
PiggyBac transposon-based genetic transformation system for insects

Abstract

The present invention is directed to nucleic acid and amino acid sequences for transformation constructs containing piggyBac or tagalong transposable elements. These constructs allow for the precise excision and insertion of heterologous DNA into a host cell.

Inventors: **Shirk; Paul D** (Gainesville, FL); **Fraser; Malcolm J.** (Granger, IN); **Elick; Teresa A.** (Columbia City, IN); **Perera; Omaththage P.** (Gainesville, FL)

Assignee: **The United States of America, as represented by the Secretary of** (Washington, DC); **University of Florida** (Gainesville, FL)

Appl. No.: **598421**

Filed: **June 19, 2000**

Current U.S. Class:

435/348; 435/320.1; 435/455; 435/462; 435/465

Intern'l Class:

C12N 005/10; C12N 015/09; C12N 015/85

Field of Search:

435/320.1,325,455,462,466,348,465 800/13,25

References Cited [Referenced By]

U.S. Patent Documents

<u>6218185</u>	Apr., 2001	Shirk et al.	435/455.
--------------------------------	------------	--------------	----------

Other References

- Cary, L.C., "Analyses of Trichplusia ni Transposon IFP2 Insertion Within the FP-locus of Nuclear Polyhedrosis Viruses", Ph.D. dissertation, Univ. of Notre dame (172 pages).
- O'Brochta et al., "Transposable Elements and Gene Transformation in Non-Drosophilid Insects", Insect Biochem. Molec. Biol., vol. 26(8-9), pp. 739-753, 1996.
- Ashburner, M., "Drosophila", (A Laboratory Handbook, CSH, NY, 1989), pp. 1024, 1035, 1051.
- Crampton, J.M., "Potential Application of Molecular Biology in Entomology", (Symp. R. Entomol. Soc. London, 1992, Vol. Date 1991, 16.sup.th, pp. 3-20).
- Unsal et al., "A Novel Group of Families of short Interspersed Repetitive Elements (SINEs) in Xenopus: Evidence of a Specific Target Site for DNA-mediated Transposition of Inverted-repeat SINEs", J. Molecular Biology, vol. 248, pp. 812-823, 1995.
- Cary, L., (Dissertation Abstracts International, (1989), vol. 50(12B), p. 5451), Abstract only.
- Wang et al., "TTAA Serves as the Target Site for TFP3 Lepidopteran transposon Insertions in Both Nuclear Polyhedrosis Virus and Trichoplusia ni Genomes", Insect Molecular Biology, vol., 1(3), pp. 109-116, 1993.
- Karess, et al., "Analysis of P Transposable Element Functions in Drosophila", Cell, vol. 38, pp. 135-146, Aug. 1984.
- Rubin et al., Science, vol. 218, p. 348-349 (1982).
- Lidholm et al., Genetics, vol. 134, p. 859-868 (1993).
- Atkinson et al., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, vol. 90, p. 9693-9697 (1993).
- Loukeris et al., Science, vol. 270, p. 2002-2005 (1995).
- Fraser et al., Virology, vol. 211, p. 397-407 (1995).
- Fraser et al., Insect Molecular Biology, vol. 5(2), p. 1-11 (1996).

Elick et al., Genetica, vol. 4, p. 1-13 (1995).
Cary et al., Virology, vol. 172, p. 156-169 (1989).

Primary Examiner: Priebe; Scott D.
Attorney, Agent or Firm: Fado; John D., Poulos; Gail E.

Parent Case Text

This application is a non-provisional application claiming benefit of provisional application Ser. No. 60/016,234, filed Apr. 19, 1996 and is a continuation of application Ser. No. 08/844,274 filed Apr. 18, 1997, now U.S. Pat. No. 6,218,185.

Claims

We claim:

1. A transformed insect cell comprising
 - (a) a first DNA comprising a non-transposon heterologous DNA sequence inserted between a pair of inverted repeats of a piggyBac transposon; and
 - (b) a second DNA encoding a transposase active on a pair of inverted repeats, which second DNA is incapable of transposition caused by the transposase.
2. The transformed insect cell of claim 1 wherein the second DNA sequence is operably linked to an inducible promoter.
3. The transformed insect cell of claim 2 wherein the inducible promoter comprises a heat shock promoter, a metallothionein promoter, or a glucocorticoid response element.
4. The transformed insect cell of claim 1 wherein the non-transposon heterologous DNA sequence comprises a selectable marker.
5. The transformed insect cell of claim 4 wherein the selectable marker is antibiotic resistance, pesticide resistance, insecticide resistance, herbicide resistance, green fluorescent protein, amber mutation, or lacZ.
6. A transformed insect cell comprising
 - (a) a non-transposon heterologous DNA sequence operably linked to an inducible promoter and inserted between a pair of inverted repeats of a piggyBac transposon; and
 - (b) a second DNA encoding a transposase active on a pair of inverted repeats.
7. The transformed insect cell of claim 6 wherein the second DNA is a separate DNA molecule from the first DNA.
8. The transformed insect cell of claim 1 wherein the second DNA is physically linked to the first DNA.
9. The transformed insect cell of claim 6 wherein the second DNA is physically linked to the first DNA.

10. The transformed insect cell of claim 1 wherein the second DNA is a separate DNA molecule from the first DNA molecule.

Description

BACKGROUND OF THE INVENTION

1. Field of the Invention

The present invention is directed to DNA transformation constructs encoding mobile elements and their use for transforming eukaryotic cells. In particular transposons are used as a mechanism for inserting DNA sequences into the cell's genome after introduction of the transformation construct into the cell.

2. Description of the Related Art

Certain natural DNA sequences in eukaryotic and prokaryotic cells have the ability to move from one genomic locus to a second locus. These genetic elements are referred to generally as transposable elements or transposons. Advantageously, these transposable elements can be used as tools for genetically manipulating cells. In particular, transposable elements isolated from eukaryotes are anticipated as having the greatest potential for use in producing transgenic organisms.

Transposable elements can be divided into two classes. Class I are the retro-transposons that replicate through an RNA intermediate and utilize reverse transcriptase to produce a DNA molecule that is inserted into the host cell's genome. The Class II transposons include all other mobile elements and include P, hobo, mariner, Tcl, and Ac elements (Berg & Howe, *Mobil DNA*, American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C. 1989). Members of this transposon class have short inverted repeats at their termini and generate direct duplications of a host target sequence upon insertion. Many of these elements are currently being developed as general transformation vectors in insects and plants (Rubin & Spradling, *Science*, Volume 218, 348-353 1982; Lidholm, Lohe & Hartl, *Genetics*, Volume 134, 859-868 1993; O'Brochta & Handler, *Prospects and possibilities for gene transfer techniques in insects*, 451-488; in *Molecular Approaches to Fundamental and Applied Entomology*, ed. Oakeshott et al, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1993).

The P element has been used effectively for *Drosophila* transformation but has limited use as a general transformation vector because it is not active in species other than *Drosophila* (O'Brochta & Handler, 1993 supra; Rubin & Spradling, 1982 supra). The mariner element is phylogenetically dispersed (Robertson, H. *Insect Physiol.*, Volume 41, 99-105, 1995), and therefore apparently has the capability of movement in a number of diverse species. In addition, the hobo element has demonstrated mobility in diverse genetic backgrounds and is a promising candidate for development as a genetic engineering tool (Atkinson, Warren & O'Brochta, *PNAS USA*, Volume 90, 9693-9697 1993; O'Brochta & Handler, 1993 supra; O'Brochta et al., *Mol. Gen. Genet.*, Volume 244, 9-14, 1994).

PiggyBac (previously described as IFP2) and tagalong elements are unique Lepidopteran transposons structurally related to the Class II DNA transposable elements (Finnegan, *Curr. Opin. Cell Bio.*, Volume 2, 471-477 1990). These transposons were isolated from the cabbage looper moth, *Trichoplusia ni* Hubner (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae). The piggyBac element was first identified as an insertion within *Galleria mellonella* or *Autographa californica* nuclear polyhedrosis virus genomes following passage of the viruses in the *Trichoplusia ni* insect cell line, TN-368. (Fraser et al., *Virology*, Volume 145, 356-361, 1985; Fraser et al., *J. Virology*, Volume 47, 287-300, 1983).

The piggyBac and tagalong elements are unusual among Class II transposons in that those elements always target and duplicate the tetranucleotide, TTAA, upon insertion in Baculovirus-infected cells (Cary et al., *Virology*, Volume 172, 156-169, 1989). The specificity for TTAA target sites is exhibited by other Lepidopteran transposon-like insertions as well (Beames & Summers, *Virology*, Volume 162, 206-220

1988; Beames & Summers, *Virology*, Volume 174, 354-363 1990; Carstens, *Virology*, Volume 161, 8-17, 1987; Oellig et al., *J. Virology*, Volume 61, 3048-3057, 1987; Schetter, Oellig & Doerfler, *J. Virology*, Volume 64, 1844-1850, 1990). Thus the piggyBac and tagalong elements are part of a subclass of the Class II transposons.

In addition to TTAA target specificity, all Lepidopteran transposons having the TTAA target specificity terminate in at least two C residues at the 5' ends of their inverted repeats. Given their similarity in insertion site selection and duplication, all of these TTAA specific elements are likely to excise in a similar manner.

Furthermore piggyBac and tagalong elements excise precisely upon transposition in vivo, leaving behind the single TTAA target sequence upon excision. The excision events of piggyBac and tagalong are dissimilar to the transposase-associated excision events of the hAT family of transposons. This family includes hobo, hermes, Ac and Tam3. (Calvi et al., *Cell*, Volume 66, 465-471, 1991). Elements in the hAT family vary in the length and nucleotide sequence of their inverted terminal repeats (Calvi et al., 1991; supra), but have a conserved A.sub.2 G.sub.5 motif within these repeats, and generate 8 bp target site duplications (Warren et al., *Genet. Research*, Volume 64, 87-97, 1994). These elements excise imprecisely in the presence of an element-encoded transposase and leave behind characteristic footprints that have proven useful in distinguishing transposase-associated excision events (Atkinson et al., 1993 supra; Warren et al., 1994 supra).

Most of the transposase-associated excisions of P-elements are imprecise events, leaving behind part or all of the 31 bp terminal inverted repeat and adding 'filler' sequences at the excision breakpoints (O'Brockta et al, *Mol. Gen. Genet.*, Volume 225, 387-394, 1991; Takasu-Ishikawa et al., *Mol. Gen. Genet.*, Volume 232, 17-23, 1992). In the case of the hobo element of *Drosophila melanogaster*, excision from plasmids in microinjected fertile eggs most often involves the complete removal of hobo and some flanking nucleotides with the addition of filler sequences related to flanking host DNA at the excision breakpoints (Atkinson, Warren & O'Brockta, 1993 supra; Handler & Gomez, *Mol. Gen. Genet.*, Volume 247, 399-408 1995; O'Brockta & Handler, 1993 supra).

In contrast with these other Class II elements, precise excision of piggyBac and tagalong is the rule rather than the exception. Precise excision of genetically tagged piggyBac elements was first demonstrated in Baculovirus genomes of infected cells (Fraser et al, *Virology* 211, 397-407 1995). However, the precise excision of the piggyBac element has also been demonstrated in non-virus infected cells indicating the excision of piggyBac is not dependant on Baculovirus protein products. The frequency of precise excision events in transiently transfected IPLB-SF21AE cells is greatly enhanced by the presence of a helper element encoding a full-length transposase. The excision event is believed to be a non-conservative event involving double-strand breaks at or near the transposon termini.

The present invention, discussed below, provides recombinant DNA vectors derived from the piggyBac and tagalong transposons which are different from related art vectors. Furthermore, the present invention provides a method to produce transgenic organisms using the recombinant DNA vectors. The transposon genetic transformation system of the present invention provides vectors and broad spectrum methods for the introduction of foreign genes that do not currently exist.

SUMMARY OF THE INVENTION

It is therefore an object of the present invention to provide DNA sequences capable of allowing for almost precise excision of a second DNA sequence inserted into a plasmid and insertion of said second DNA sequence into a host cell after transformation of said host cell with a transformation construct containing said first and second DNAs.

Another object of the present invention is to provide transformation constructs including DNA derived from a piggyBac transposon element which allow for the almost precise excision of a second DNA sequence included in the construct and insertion of said second DNA sequence into a host cell after introduction of a transformation construct containing said first and second DNAs into said host cell.

A further object of the present invention is to provide a transformation construct containing transposing elements combined with a DNA sequence capable of being expressed in a transformed host cell.

A still further object of the present invention is to provide a DNA sequence capable of being expressed in a transformed cell flanked by piggyBac or tagalong terminal inverted repeats.

Another object of the present invention is to provide a method for making a transgenic organism by inserting a transformation construct containing a DNA sequence, capable of being expressed in a transformed cell, flanked by piggyBac or tagalong inverted repeats into a cell; wherein the DNA sequence will excise from the construct and will insert into the host cell at least at the target sequence TTAA in said host cell genome and using the transformed cell to obtain said transgenic organism.

Further objects and advantages of the present invention will become apparent from the following description.

BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF THE DRAWINGS

FIG. 1A shows the construction of the pIFP2BX-supF excision donor plasmid. The piggyBac element from p3E1.2 (top) was altered to remove flanking viral sequences (crosshatched bars) by PCR amplification using the primer MF34 (see materials and methods). MF34 anneals to both of the piggyBac terminal inverted repeats. The resulting piggyBac element (solid black bar) was flanked by TTAA target sites and BamHI/XbaI restriction sites. The 2.5 kB PCR product was cloned into pCRII (Invitrogen). The pCRII-piggyBac clone was digested with BamHI and the 2.5 kB BamHI-piggyBac fragment was subcloned into BamHI-digested pUC18. This clone was designated pIFP2BX (middle). pIFP2BX was digested with BglII (piggyBac nucleotide position 675) and genetically tagged by the addition of a 250 bp BglII fragment containing the supF gene. This plasmid was designated pIFP2BX-supF (bottom) and served as the donor plasmid in excision assays.

FIG. 1B shows that excision of the piggyBac element from either p3E1.2 (top) or pIFP2BX-supF (bottom) produces plasmids with different restriction enzyme profiles at the excision breakpoints. p3E1.2-piggyBac precise excision products are sensitive to digestion with MluI and EcoRV whereas pIFP2BX-supF-piggyBac precise excision products are insensitive to digestion with these same enzymes.

FIG. 2 shows the experimental strategy for analysis of piggyBac excision from the donor plasmid pIFP2BX-supF. *S. frugiperda* cells were transfected with donor DNA in the presence or absence of the helper transposon p3E1.2. Low molecular weight DNA was isolated at 48 hours post transfection and digested with the restriction enzymes EcoRV, MluI, and HpaI to select against non-excised piggyBac plasmids and the p3E1.2 helper plasmid. The digested DNA was used to transform MBL50 *E. coli*. White colonies containing plasmids that were not digested by the enzyme mix were analyzed by restriction digestion with PstI and AseI (FIG. 3) to determine if they resulted from piggyBac excision. Putative excision clones were then sequenced to confirm the sequence at the excision breakpoints (FIGS. 4A and 4B).

FIG. 3 is a photograph of a gel showing restriction enzyme analysis of a representative piggyBac excision clone and a non-excised plasmid clone. Digestion of the pIFP2BX-supF donor plasmid with PstI generates two products of 4641 bp and 803 bp. Digestion of pIFP2BX-supF with AseI generates three products of 2792, 1358, and 1294 bp. If piggyBac excises precisely from this plasmid, a single product of 2714 bp is produced from PstI digestion and a diagnostic 1257 bp product is produced from AseI digestion due to creation of a new ATTAAT AseI site at the point of excision (see sequence, FIG. 4). Another diagnostic AseI band of 163 bp is not resolved on this gel but is resolved on overloaded 2.5% agarose gels (not shown).

FIG. 4A is a photograph of a gel showing dideoxy sequencing analysis of four representative piggyBac excisions from pIFP2BX-supF.

FIG. 4B shows that precise excision of piggyBac from the pIFP2BX-supF donor plasmid generates the

characteristic BamHI/XbaI-TTAA-XbaI/BamHI nucleotide sequence, SEQ ID NO 21 and SEQ ID NO 22.

FIGS. 5a-5e is the entire nucleic acid, SEQ ID NO 11, and amino acid sequence, SEQ ID NO 12, for the piggyBac transposon element.

FIGS. 6a-6g is the entire nucleic acid sequence, SEQ ID NO 13, for the plasmid p3E1.2, also called the p3E1.2 H/S clone. This represents a clone of the Hind/Sal fragment containing the piggyBac insertion from an *Autographa californica* nuclear polyhedrosis virus FP mutant.

FIGS. 7a-7e is the entire nucleic acid sequence, SEQ ID NO 14, for the piggyBac/opp plasmid.

FIG. 8 is a Southern blot of the PiA-3 and PiA-11 piggyBac transformed *Plodia interpunctella* strains. Genomic DNA was extracted from G.sub.10 larvae of the PiA-3 and PiA-11 strains of *P. interpunctella* strains that were coinjected with piggyBac/opp and p3E1.2.DELTA.TRL. Lanes A-C contain 2.5 micrograms each of PiA-11 genomic DNA; lanes D and J are blank; lanes E-H contain piggyBac/opp DNA; lane I contains 2.5 micrograms of wild type *P. interpunctella* DNA; lanes K-M contain 2.5 micrograms of PiA-3 DNA. Lanes A,E and K are PstI digests; lanes B,F and L are EcoRI digests; lanes C,G and M are ApaI digests. Lane H is uncut DNA. The blot was hybridized with PCR labeled probe to hsp70/opp.

FIGS. 9a-9j is the entire nucleic acid sequence, SEQ ID NO 15, of a pCRII clone of the piggyBac sequence amplified from the p3E1.2 plasmid using the primer MF34.

FIGS. 10a-10h is the entire nucleic acid sequence, SEQ ID NO 16, for plasmid IFP2B/Xpuc18.1.

FIGS. 11a-11h is the entire nucleic acid sequence, SEQ ID NO 17, for plasmid IFP2B/XsupF4H.

FIG. 12a shows the nucleic acid sequence of two primers, SEQ ID NO 18 (top) and SEQ ID NO 19 (bottom) used in the PCR amplification of the hs/opp fragment.

FIGS. 12b-m is the entire nucleic acid sequence, SEQ ID NO 20, of the p3E1.2hs/opp plasmid.

DETAILED DESCRIPTION OF THE INVENTION

The identification and isolation of autonomous mobile elements from the piggyBac transposon according to the present invention enables the transformation of cells and the production of transgenic organisms wherein DNA capable of being expressed in the transformed cell or transgenic organism is excised from a transformation construct and inserted into the genome of a cell used to produce a transgenic organism. The term cell for the purposes of this invention includes any cell capable of being transformed by the transformation construct of the present invention and preferably includes any eukaryotic cell. More preferably, the cell is any arthropod cell and most preferably the cell is an insect cell. Furthermore, cells are transformed with DNA sequences that are introduced into the cell and targeted for insertion at a TTAA sequence of the cell's DNA. Typically the introduced DNA sequences include functional genes that are flanked by the piggyBac transposon inverted repeats to form a transformation construct. For the purposes of this invention the introduced transformation construct comprises a targeted functional DNA sequence flanked by a pair of transposon terminal inverted repeats from TTAA piggyBac or tagalong transposons. Targeted functional DNA sequence for the purposes of this invention is any heterologous sequence capable of being expressed in a host cell and/or a transgenic organism. In one embodiment of the present invention, the inverted repeats comprise at least 13 bps of the inverted repeats of the piggyBac transposon which include the sequence: left end CCCTAGAAAGATA, SEQ ID NO 2; right end TATCTTCTAGGG, SEQ ID NO 13. The sequence for a 17 bp inverted repeat is: left end TTAACCCCTAGAAAGATA, SEQ ID NO 4; right end TATCTTCTAGGGTTAA, SEQ ID NO 5. In another embodiment the transformation construct also encodes a transposase gene whose product interacts with the transposon inverted repeats to induce transposition of the targeted sequence. The targeted functional DNA sequence typically will encode a gene that is capable of being expressed in the host cell. This gene can be expressed under the control of an inducible promoter. The targeted DNA can also include a selectable marker gene if the targeted gene to

be inserted into the host cell's genome does not itself provide a selectable marker functionality. In one embodiment the transformation construct also can comprise a polylinker flanked by a pair of at least 13 bps of the inverted repeats of the piggyBac transposon. For the purposes of this application, a polylinker is a short length of DNA that contains numerous different endonuclease restriction sites located in close proximity. The presence of the polylinker is advantageous because it allows various exogenous sequences, such as expression cassettes, to be easily inserted and removed, thus simplifying the process of making a transformation construct containing a particular targeted DNA fragment. When this transformation construct is introduced into a host cell, in the presence of transposase activity specific for the flanking inverted repeats, the targeted DNA sequence will be excised from the introduced construct and will be inserted into a new location. Transposition of the targeted DNA located within the transformation construct is enhanced in the presence of transposase activity. The gene encoding the transposase can either be physically linked to the transformation construct, already present in the host cell's genome, or introduced into the cell as part of a separate DNA molecule. Inducible promoters can be used as a means of triggering the production of transposase activity.

The present invention utilizes the transposon machinery of the TTAA specific transposons to excise and insert the targeted DNA sequence into the genome of the host cell. The resulting transformed cell or group of cells are stable transformants which are then used to make a transgenic organism, using techniques known to the skilled artisan, which will pass the introduced gene to all subsequent progeny.

The above described transformation construct can also be part of a larger construct. The additional sequences of the larger construct comprising DNA sequences capable of replicating the entire DNA molecule in a bacterial host and DNA sequences encoding a bacterial selectable marker such as for example genes encoding for ampicillin or tetracycline resistance. This larger construct, which can be a plasmid, can be used to transform bacterial cells. These transformed bacterial cells can then be cultured to produce large quantities of the plasmid DNA. The plasmid DNA can then be purified and the specific transformation construct can optionally be removed from the DNA sequences utilized to replicate the plasmid in the bacterial cell using techniques well known to those familiar with the art.

In one embodiment of the invention, the target functional DNA sequence encodes a gene operably linked to an inducible promoter. Inducible promoters include any promoter capable of increasing the amount of gene product produced, by a given gene, in response to exposure to an inducer. Thus the use of this construct allows for control of the expression of the target functional gene introduced into the transgenic organism. Inducible promoters are known to those familiar with the art and a variety exists that could be used to drive expression of the transposase gene. Inducible systems include, for example, the heat shock promoter system, the metallothionein system, the glucocorticoid system, tissue specific promoters, etc. Promoters regulated by heat shock, such as the promoter normally associated with the gene encoding the 70-kDa heat shock protein, can increase expression several-fold after exposure to elevated temperatures. The glucocorticoid system also functions well in triggering the expression of genes. The system consists of a gene encoding glucocorticoid receptor protein (GR) which in the presence of a steroid hormone (i.e. glucocorticoid or one of its synthetic equivalents such as dexamethasone) forms a complex with the hormone. This complex then binds to a short nucleotide sequence (26 bp) named the glucocorticoid response element (GRE), and this binding activates the expression of linked genes. Thus inducible promoters can be used as an environmentally inducible promoter for controlling the expression of the introduced gene. Other means besides inducible promoters for controlling the functional activity of a gene product are known to those familiar with the art.

Specifically, the transformation construct of the present invention includes DNA derived from a TTAA specific transposon of the lepidopteran transposons, piggyBac and tagalong. The piggyBac and tagalong transposons were isolated as insertions in the nuclear polyhedrosis virus, *Galleria mellonella* (GmMNPV), following maintenance of that virus in the TN-368 cell line, a *T. ni* derived cell line (Fraser et al., J. Virology, Volume 47, 287-300, 1983 herein incorporated by reference). Both elements have also been associated with repeated insertion events within the *Autographa californica* NPV (AcMNPV) genome (Cary et al, Virology, Volume 172, 156-169, 1989; Kumar & Miller, Virus Res., Volume 7, 335-349, 1987; Wang & Fraser, J. Insect Mol. Bio., Volume 1, 1-7 1992).

The piggyBac (IFP2) element is 2.5 kb in length and is bounded by 13 bp inverted terminal repeats, with additional internal 19 bp inverted repeats located asymmetrically with respect to the ends. The entire nucleic acid, SEQ ID NO 11, and amino acid sequence, SEQ ID NO 12, of the piggyBac element is shown in FIGS. 5a-5e. The internal sequence contains a consensus RNA polymerase II promoter region and a poly-adenylation signal (Cary et al., 1989 *supra*) flanking a single major open reading frame. The open reading frame encodes a single transcript of approximately 2.1 kb in length with a 5' end that maps to a consensus cap recognition sequence (Cary et al., 1989 *supra*). This open reading frame encodes transposase activity that enhances the transposition of the piggyBac element.

The tagalong (TFP3) element is considerably smaller (780 bp) with no apparent coding potential (Fraser et al., 1983, 1985 *supra*; Wang et al., Gene, Volume 81, 97-108, 1989; Wang & Fraser, 1992 *supra*). The element is bounded by 13/15 bp imperfect inverted repeats, and is repeated and dispersed within the genome of all *T. ni* derived cell lines tested, as well as laboratory colonies of *T. ni* (Fraser et al., 1983 *supra*; Wang et al., 1989 *supra*; Wang & Fraser, 1992 *supra*). Comparative sequence analyses of tagalong elements and their insertion sites within baculovirus genomes and host cell genomes (Wang & Fraser, 1992 *supra*) have demonstrated that these elements transpose in an identical fashion whether they are moving in baculovirus-infected cells or in uninfected cells.

Both piggyBac and tagalong elements excise from their insertion sites entirely and in a precise fashion, regenerating a single copy of the TTAA target site at the point of excision. Precise excision of both elements is not restricted to the cell line of origin, TN368, but can also occur in other eukaryotic cells as well.

The creation of a transformed cell requires that the DNA first be physically placed within the host cell. Current transformation procedures utilize a variety of techniques to introduce DNA into a cell. In one form of transformation, the DNA is microinjected directly into cells through the use of micropipettes. Alternatively, high velocity ballistics can be used to propel small DNA associated particles into the cell. In another form, the cell is permeabilized by the presence of polyethylene glycol, thus allowing DNA to enter the cell through diffusion. DNA can also be introduced into a cell by fusing protoplasts with other entities which contain DNA. These entities include minicells, cells, lysosomes or other fusible lipid-surfaced bodies. Electroporation is also an accepted method for introducing DNA into a cell. In this technique, cells are subject to electrical impulses of high field strength which reversibly permeabilizes biomembranes, allowing the entry of exogenous DNA sequences. One preferred method of introducing the transformation construct into cells in accordance with the present invention is to microinject fertilized eggs with the construct. The DNA sequence flanked by the transposon inverted repeats will be inserted into the genome of the fertilized egg during development of the organism, this DNA will be passed on to all of the progeny cells to produce a transgenic organism. The microinjection of eggs to produce transgenic animals has been previously described and utilized to produce transformed mammals and insects (Rubin et al., Science, Volume 218, 384-393, 1982; Hogan et al., Manipulating The Mouse Embryo: A Laboratory Manual, Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Plainview, N.Y., 1986; Shirk et al., In Biotechnology For Crop Protection, Hedin et al (eds.), ACS Books, Washington D.C., 135-146, 1988; Morgan et al., Annu. Rev., Biochem., Volume 62, 191-217, 1993; all herein incorporated by reference). Accordingly transgenic organisms can be produced that have an exogenous DNA sequence that is flanked by the sequence 5' TTAACCC . . . GGGTTAA 3', SEQ ID NO 1 and SEQ ID NO 6, respectively. Accordingly a method of producing stably transformed insects includes the step of microinjecting a transformation construct comprising the inverted repeats of a TTAA specific transposon into a cell, preferably a fertile insect egg. The resulting transgenic insect has an exogenous DNA sequence inserted into its genomic DNA at the sequence TTAA, wherein the inserted exogenous DNA is located between the sequence 5' TTAACCC . . . GGGTTAA 3', SEQ ID NO 1 and SEQ ID NO 6, respectively.

Transformed cells and/or transgenic organisms (those containing the DNA inserted into the host cell's DNA) can be selected from untransformed cells and/or transformed organisms if a selectable marker was included as part of the introduced DNA sequences. Selectable markers include, for example, genes that provide antibiotic, pesticide, insecticide, herbicide resistance; genes that modify the physiology of the host, such as for example eye color or green fluorescent protein, to produce an altered visible phenotype; etc. Cells and/or organisms containing these genes are capable of surviving in the presence of antibiotic,

insecticides or herbicide concentrations that kill untransformed cells/organisms or producing an altered visible phenotype. Using standard techniques known to those familiar with the field, techniques such as, for example, Southern blotting and polymerase chain reaction, DNA can be isolated from transgenic cells and/or organisms to confirm that the introduced DNA has been inserted.

Specifically, the TTAA specific transposon based constructs of the present invention are utilized in a method to genetically transform insects. The method comprises the steps of introducing the construct into the egg of the organism wherein the transposon excises from the plasmid and is inserted into the genome of the host. A piggyBac derived construct has been used to transform the cabbage looper moth. The construct was microinjected into eggs at a pre-blastula stage and the piggyBac DNA was induced to move from the plasmid DNA to stably integrate into the chromosomal DNA of germ cells of the cabbage looper moth. Thus, the piggyBac transposon is useful as a vector to move foreign genes into cabbage looper moth chromosomes and, as a consequence, produce genetically transformed insects. The piggyBac transposon genetic transformation system provides a broad spectrum method that does not currently exist for the introduction of foreign genes into insects.

Genetic modification of insects with new genetic elements provides a means to control populations of agriculturally pestiferous or beneficial insects. The ability to control pest insects through genetically based sterile insect programs or genetically introduced targeted conditional susceptibilities will result in significant cost savings to agribusiness. In addition, introduction of genes that impart resistance to chemicals (including herbicides, pesticides and insecticides) can improve the efficacy of beneficial insects. This technology can also be used for detection and monitoring of insect populations and infestations where the piggyBac transposon is present in the population. Each of these applications will result in more efficient pest control programs.

Enhancing the resistance of beneficial insects to pesticides will enhance the efficacy of the beneficial insects and may allow for the simultaneous use of chemical control and biological control of pests. Some of the beneficial insects that would make good candidates for such transformations include. Hymenopteran parasitoids of *Heliothis* spp: *Microplitis croceips* and *Cardiochiles nigriceps*; Hymenopteran parasitoid of Diamondback moth, *Plutella xylostella*: *Diadegma insolare*; Hymenopteran parasitoid of the Indianmeal moth, *Plodia interpunctella*: *Bracon hebitor*; and Hemipteran predators: *Xylocoris flavipes* and *Podisus maculatus*.

The following examples are intended only to further the invention and are not intended to limit the scope of the invention as described by the claims.

EXAMPLE 1

The piggyBac-deficient *Spodoptera frugiperda* cell line, IPLB-SF21AE (Vaughn et al., *In Vitro*, Volume 13, 213-217, 1977 herein incorporated by reference) was maintained as described in Fraser, Smith & Summers, *J. Virol.* 47: p. 287-300, 1983; herein incorporated by reference. Twenty-four hours prior to use, cells were seeded to early-log phase to insure optimum growth at transfection.

EXAMPLE 2

In order to clone plasmid excision constructs, plasmid p3E1.2 (FIGS. 6a-6g), containing an active piggyBac element, was used as a template for PCR reactions with the inverted terminal repeat-specific BamHI/XbaI-ended primer MF34 to remove flanking viral sequences from p3E1.2 (FIGS. 2 and 6, SEQ ID NO 13). A primer oligonucleotide, MF34, having the sequence 5' GGATCCTCTAGATTAAACCTAGAAAAGATA 3', SEQ ID NO 7, annealed to both piggyBac terminal repeats and generated a full-length piggyBac transposon product. The MF34 primer is tailed with BamHI and XbaI sites immediately adjacent to the TTAA target site and terminal inverted repeat sequences. This single primer amplified the entire piggyBac element and target site duplication because of its homology to both ends of the element through the terminal repeat sequences. The PCR reaction contained approximately 5 Units Taq polymerase (Promega), about 2 mM MgCl₂, about 1 mM dNTPs, about 50 mM KC1, about 10 mM Tris-Cl pH 9, 0.1% Triton X, and about 100 pmols MF34 primer. The 2.5 kB amplified BamHI/XbaI-ended piggyBac PCR product is tailed with

BamHI and XbaI sites flanking the TTAA target sites on both sides, and was cloned into pCRII (Invitrogen) TA cloning vector (FIGS. 9a-9j, SEQ ID NO 15) to generate a piggyBac element flanked by TTAA target sights and BamHI/XbaI restriction sites (Elick et al, Genetica, Volume 98, 33-41, 1996; herein incorporated by reference in its entirety). This is analyzed extensively by restriction digestion to insure the PCR product did not contain significant mutations due to infidelity of the Taq polymerase. An approximately 2.5 kB BamHI fragment was then subcloned into pUC18 and designated pIFP2BX (FIGS. 1A and 10a-10h, SEQ ID NO 16). Both orientations of the BamHI insert are cloned. About a 250 bp BamHI fragment containing the E. coli tRNA suppresser gene, supF (Ariza et al., 1993), was band-isolated from pKFsupF (kindly supplied by Dr. D. O'Brochta) and cloned into the unique BglII site of pIFP2BX by interrupting the open reading frame at the unique BglII site (nucleotide position 673) and adding a BglII-compatible 250 bp BamHI cartridge containing the supF gene (FIGS. 1a and 11a-11h, SEQ ID NO 17) (Elick et al, Genetica, Volume 98, 33-41, 1996; herein incorporated by reference). This plasmid was designated piFp2BX-supF (FIGS. 1A and 11a-11h, SEQ ID NO 17) and was the donor plasmid in excision assays.

The supF gene encodes a tRNA (Ariza. et al., Carcinogenesis, Volume 14, 303-305, 1993; herein incorporated by reference) that suppressed an amber mutation in the 9-galactosidase gene of the E. coli strain MBL50 to produce blue colonies in the presence of X-gal. If the piggyBac element tagged with the supF gene is excised from the plasmid pIFP2BX-supF, the amber mutation in the MBL50 B-galactosidase gene was not suppressed and the resulting colonies were white in the presence of Xgal.

EXAMPLE 3

The CaPO.sub.4 co-precipitation protocol was used to co-transfect plasmid excision vectors into piggyBac-deficient IPLB-SF21AE cells (Corsaro & Fraser, J. Tiss. Cul. Meth., Volume 12, 7-12, 1989; Graham & Van der Eb, Virology, Volume 52, 456-467, 1973; Summers & Smith, A Manual of methods for baculoviruses vectors and insect cell culture procedures, Texas Agricultural Experiment Station Bulletin, 1987; all herein incorporated by reference). The IPLB-SF21AE cell line is used because this cell line lacks piggyBac-homologous sequences (Cary et al., 1989 supra; Elick et al., Genetica, Volume 97, 127-139, 1996; herein incorporated by reference). It was expected that co-transfection of the pIFP2BX-supF plasmid with the helper plasmid p3E1.2 would increase the number of white excision products if excision of piggyBac was enhanced by the presence of the presumptive transposase. About 5 .mu.g of supercoiled pIFP2BX-supF donor plasmid DNA was combined with about 5 .mu.g of supercoiled p3E1.2 helper plasmid in about 1 ml 1.times.Hepes, pH about 7.1. Transfections done in the absence of the helper plasmid contained twice as much (approximately 10 .mu.g) donor plasmid DNA. After incubation the co-transfection mixtures were placed onto monolayers of IPLB-SF21AE cells and incubated for one hour with gentle agitation approximately every 15 minutes. The monolayers were then fed with about 1 ml TNM-FH+approximately 8% FBS and incubated for about another 4 hours at 27.degree. C. Transfected cells were harvested approximately 48 hours post transfection for extraction of plasmid DNA.

EXAMPLE 4

Low molecular weight DNA, i.e., extrachromosomal DNA, was isolated from transfected cells of Example 3 according to the method of Hirt (Hirt, J. Mol. Bio., Volume 26, 365-369, 1967; herein incorporated by reference). The media was removed from the cells and approximately 800 .mu.l of Hirt extraction buffer (about 25 mM Tris-Cl, about 10 mM EDTA, about 0.6% SDS, pH about 7.5) was added. Cell lysates were scraped into microcentrifuge tubes after about 5 minutes and NaCl was added to a final concentration of about 1M. The lysates were incubated on ice for about 2 hours and centrifuged for about 15 minutes at about 15K and about 4.degree. C. Supernatants containing low molecular weight DNA were placed into fresh tubes, extracted with phenol/chloroform and precipitated with ethanol according to standard protocols (Sambrook, Fritsch & Maniatis, Molecular Cloning, A Laboratory Manual, Cold Spring Harbor Press, 1989; herein incorporated by reference). The extracted DNA was resuspended in water and used in restriction digestions and electrotransformations of MBL50 E. coli.

EXAMPLE 5

The Hirt isolated DNAs from Example 4 were digested with approximately 5 U each of MluI, EcoRV, and HpaI (Promega) in approximately 100 .mu.l reactions containing approximately 1 .mu.g DNA. Each of these enzymes act within the piggyBac element. These reactions were carried out as recommended by the manufacturer. The loss of piggyBac from pIFP2BX-supF prevented digestion with this enzyme mix (see FIG. 1B). The loss of piggyBac from the helper plasmid p3E1.2 did not prevent digestion with EcoRV or MluI (see FIG. 1B). The p3E1.2 plasmids as well as any plasmids resulting from excision of piggyBac from p3E1.2 were selectively degraded.

The MBL50 E. coli strain was transformed with approximately 10 .mu.g of Hirt isolated, digested DNA using a Bio-Rad Gene Pulser. Briefly, approximately 40 .mu.ls of electrocompetent MBL50 E. coli were combined with the digested DNA on ice, placed into an approximately 0.2 cm gap electroporation cuvette and pulsed at settings of about 25 .mu.Fd, about 25 kV, about 200 .OMEGA. A, about 1.5 ml aliquot of SOC (about 2% w/v bacto-tryptone, about 0.5% w/v bacto-yeast extract, about 8.5 mM NaCl, about 2.5 mM KCl, about 10 mM MgCl₂, about 20 mM glucose) was added after electroporation. The electroporated bacteria were collected immediately by centrifugation at about 2000.times.g for about 5 minutes at room temperature, resuspended in about 100 .mu.ls SOC and spread on LB plates (about 150.times.15 mm) containing approximately 100 .mu.ls of about 2% X-gal and approximately 50 .mu.g/ml ampicillin.

The pIFP2BX-supF plasmid contains two PstI sites, one in the piggyBac element and the other in the multiple cloning site of pUC18. Digestion of pIFP2BX-supF with PstI generates two fragments of 4641 bp and 803 bp in length (FIG. 3). Excision of the -2750 bp piggyBac element from this plasmid removes one of the PstI sites to generate a single PstI digestion product of 2714 bp. The supF(-) clones exhibiting this single 2714 bp PstI product were then analyzed with AseI. This enzyme recognizes the sequence ATTAAT, SEQ ID NO 9. Precise excision of piggyBac from pIFP2BX-supF regenerates a single TTAA and a new AseI site is generated at the excision breakpoint. A diagnostic Ase I band of 1257 bp is resolved on a 2.5% agarose gel (FIG. 3). The other diagnostic AseI fragment of 163 bp is also resolved on a 2.5% gel when the gel is overloaded (data not shown). In addition, the donor pIFP2BX-supF AseI fragments of 2792 bp and 1358 bp are absent in clones where piggyBac has excised (FIG. 3). After screening by restriction digestion, positive clones were sequenced to confirm the precise excision events that had generated the sequence GGATCCTCTAG(ATTAACT)CTAGAGGATCC, SEQ ID NO 8 at the excision breakpoints (FIGS. 4a and b).

Digested Hirt extracts harvested from cells transfected with 10 .mu.g of pIFP2BX-supF alone (control) generated a total of 51 white colonies in three separate experiments upon transformation of MBL50 cells. No precise excisions of the SupF-tagged piggyBac element were recovered in the absence of the piggyBac transposase (Table 1). Table 1 shows assay results for supF(-) plasmids obtained from transformation of E. coli MBL50 cells either prior to or following transfection of the IPLB-SF21AE insect cell line. The IPLB-SF21AE (SF21AE) cell line was transfected with the pIFP2BX-supF plasmid (psupF) in the absence or presence of the p3E1.2 helper plasmid. At 48 hours post transfection a Hirt extraction was performed to isolate plasmid DNAs. Equivalent amounts of Hirt extracted DNAs were transformed either directly (Total Number of Plasmids) or following treatment with the restriction enzyme mix EcoRV, MluI, and EcoRV (Number supF(-)) into E. coli MBL50 cells and the number of colonies produced was counted. In the control experiment (MBL50) equivalent aliquots of either undigested or pre-digested pIFP2BX-supF plasmid DNA were transformed directly into the bacteria (Total Number of Plasmids and Number supF(-), respectively). The number of and percentage of precise excision events among the white supF(-) plasmids recovered was determined (Number Precise and Percent Precise, respectively) and the frequency of precise excisions was calculated relative to the total number of supF(-) plasmids recovered. In these instances the loss of supF activity apparently resulted from random deletions of supF, piggyBac, and/or portions of the pUC18 plasmid DNA.

Transfections of IPLB-SF21AE cells with pIFP2BX-supF in the presence of the p3E1.2 helper transposon also produced plasmids that resisted digestion with the enzyme mix and generated white colonies upon transformation of MBL50 E. coli. A total of 19 supF negative clones isolated from 3 independent experiments were analyzed by restriction digestion.

TABLE 1

Total Number of Plasmids	Plasmids supF(-)	Num-ber	Per-cent	cise	cise	Frequency
21AE pIFP2BX-supF	1 .times. 10(7)	51	0	0	0	
21AE pIFP2BX-supF + 3E1.2	1 .times. 10(5)	19	11	58	1 .times. 10(-4)	
L50 pIFP2BX-supF	3 .times. 10(5)	25	0	0	0	

EXAMPLE 6

White colonies, resulting from the supF deletions in Example 5, representing putative excision events, were mini-prepped by boiling according to standard protocols (Sambrook et al., 1989 *supra*) and analyzed by restriction digestion and sequencing. The plasmid DNAs were digested with PstI to identify possible excision events (FIG. 3). PstI digests positive for excision were further characterized by digestion with the enzyme AseI (FIG. 3) since precise excision of piggyBac from pIFP2BX-supF generates a new AseI site (ATTAAT, SEQ ID NO 9) at the excision breakpoint. Double-stranded DNAs from clones representing putative excision events were sequenced by the dideoxy method (Sanger, Nicklen & Coulson, PNAS USA, Volume 74, 5463-5467, 1977 herein incorporated by reference) using the Sequenase version 2.0 kit (Amersham).

Eleven of these clones appeared to be precise piggyBac excision events. The remaining 8 white clones were not characterized further since they reflected extreme deletions or rearrangements that appeared to be unrelated to piggyBac excision. The eleven putative excision clones were sequenced and all were confirmed as precise excision events (Table 1), leaving a single TTAA at the excision breakpoint (FIG. 4).

Overall, 58% percent of the white colonies screened from co-transfections with pIFP2BX-supF and p3E1.2 were derived from precise piggyBac excision events. In contrast, 0% of the recovered plasmids exhibited precise excisions when the helper plasmid was not supplied (Table 1). These results demonstrated that precise excision of piggyBac from plasmids in IPLB-SF21AE cells was significantly enhanced by the addition of the p3E1.2 helper transposon plasmid.

EXAMPLE 7

To estimate the frequencies of supF(-) plasmids resulting from precise excision of piggyBac versus those resulting from alternative deletions, equal amounts of Hirt extracted DNAs from transfected IPLB-SF21AE cells were either mock digested or digested with MluI, EcORV, and HpaI in 100 .mu.l reactions. Equal amounts of these DNAs were then transformed into MBL50 E. coli. The supF deletion frequency was calculated as the number of white colonies produced from the digested preparation divided by the total number of colonies produced from the undigested control.

The frequency of supF deletions that were unrelated to precise piggyBac excision in control transfections with pIFP2BX-supF alone was determined. In the absence of the p3E1.2 helper transposon, a white colony was generated in every 2.times.10.sup.4 pIFP2BX-supF plasmids used to transform MBL50 E.coli. This equals a background supF deletion frequency of 5.times.10.sup.-5 (Table 1).

In the presence of the p3E1.2 helper transposon, approximately one white colony was generated in every 5.8.times.10.sup.3 input plasmids (both pIFP2BX-supF and p3E1.2) and one precise excision was confirmed in every 1.2.times.10.sup.4 input plasmids. This corresponds to a supF deletion frequency of 1.8.times.10.sup.-4 and a piggyBac precise excision frequency of 1.0.times.10.sup.-4 (Table 1).

The possibility existed that the piggyBac-supF excision events could have occurred in MBL50 E. coli after transformation with the Hirt extracted DNAs rather than in the transfected IPLB-SF21AE cells. As a control, we performed direct transformations of MBL5 E. coli with pIFP2BX-SupF DNA pre-digested with

MluI, EcoRV, and HpaI. The transformation mixtures were spread on LB-amp+X-gal plates and plasmids from white colonies were screened by restriction digestion with several diagnostic enzymes. A total of 25 white colonies were generated in three separate experiments from these direct transformations. None of these white colonies resulted from plasmids with precise excisions of the supF-tagged piggyBac element. These results confirmed that the precise excisions of piggyBac must have occurred exclusively in IPLBSF21AE cells and not in transformed bacteria.

The frequency of the imprecise spontaneous supF deletions from plasmids directly transformed into the NBL50 E. coli cells was compared to the previously calculated frequency from Hirt extracted plasmids recovered from transfected IPLB-SF21AE cells to determine if the observed background SupF deletion events occurred predominantly in the SF21AE cells or in the bacteria. In three separate transformations, the MBL50 E. coli directly transformed with 3.times.10.sup.5 digested pIFP2BX-supF plasmids generated a total of 25 white colonies (Table 1). This corresponded to a supF deletion frequency of 8.times.10.sup.-5. This frequency was similar to the supF deletion frequency previously observed for pIFP2BX-supF plasmids that had been introduced into IPLBSF21AE cells in the absence of the helper p3E1.2 (5.times.10.sup.-5). This apparent similarity in supF deletion frequencies suggested the majority of background supF deletion events (those not involving a precise piggyBac excision) had occurred in the transformed bacteria and not in the transfected IPLB-SF21AE cells. Further evidence for this conclusion was apparent from the similarities of restriction fragment patterns among those clones isolated following direct bacterial transformations and those isolated following transfections of IPLB-SF21AE cells (data not shown).

The above establishes that precise excision of piggyBac is enhanced by the addition of the helper p3E1.2 in transfected IPLB-SF21AE cells. This helper plasmid presumably provides a source of the piggyBac transposase. Precise excisions of genetically tagged piggyBac from mutant Baculovirus genomes have been observed in infected IPLB-SF21AE cells in the absence of a helper transposon (data not shown). Precise excisions in transfected IPLB-SF21AE cells in the absence of the helper transposase was not detected. However, precise excisions probably do occur at some baseline frequency.

The inability to find precise excisions in this plasmid assay in the absence of added transposase plasmid is probably the result of an excision frequency that is slightly below the detection limit. Precise excisions from the Baculovirus recombinants results in viruses that are then amplified in the infected cells, and the ability to detect these relatively infrequent excision events is therefore enhanced. The results of the plasmid-based excision assay also confirm that viral-encoded gene products are not necessary for precise excision of piggyBac in these Lepidopteran cells.

The frequent and favored event of piggyBac precise excision is unique among Class II transposons. In the case of the hobo element of *Drosophila melanogaster*, excision from plasmids in microinjected fertile eggs most often involves the complete removal of hobo and some flanking nucleotides with the addition of filler sequences related to flanking host DNA at the excision breakpoints (Atkinson, Warren & O'Brochta, 1993 supra; Handler & Gomez, Mol. Gen. Genet., Volume 247, 399-408, 1995; O'Brochta & Handler, 1993 supra; all herein incorporated by reference). This addition of filler sequence could involve either a polymerase-dependent template-switching process during repair of the excision breakpoint (Saedler & Nevers, J. Eur. Mol. Bio. Org., Volume 4, 585-590, 1985; herein incorporated by reference) or the formation of hairpins at the excision breakpoint that are subsequently nicked, filled in, and religated (Takasu Ishikawa, Ishihara & Hotta, Mol. Gen. Genet., Volume 232, 17-23, 1992; Coen & Carpenter, J. Eur. Mol. Bio. Org., Volume 7, 877-883, 1988). The hobo excision process requires the hobo transposase or may involve cross mobilization by a similar transposase with hobo-like activity (Atkinson, Warren & O'Brochta, 1993 supra; Handler & Gomez, 1995 supra; O'Brochta et al., 1994 supra; Warren, Atkinson & O'Brochta, Genet. Res., Volume 64, 87-97, 1994). The piggyBac element may also be cross mobilized in the absence of added piggyBac transposase by similar elements resident in the IPLB-SF21AE cell line (Fraser et al., Virology 211, p397-407 1995; herein incorporated by reference). The piggyBac element most often excises precisely from plasmids in IPLB-SF21AE cells when supplied with a piggyBac transposase source. piggyBac also preferentially excises precisely from Baculoviruses in infected IPLB-SF21AE cells (data not shown). No extra nucleotides are removed and no filler sequences are inserted at the piggyBac excision breakpoints.

Like piggyBac, the P element can excise precisely from plasmids in vitro in the presence of transposase (Rio, Laski & Rubin, *Cell*, Volume 44, 21-32, 1986). However, the P element most often excises imprecisely in vivo, leaving behind residual terminal repeat sequences at the excision breakpoints (O'Brochta, Gomez & Handler, 1991 *supra*; Takasu-Ishikawa, Ishihara & Hotta, 1992 *supra*). The apparent precise excision events of genomic P elements in vivo are due to homolog dependent gap repair rather than precise excision (Engels et al., *Cell*, Volume 62, 15-525, 1990). Since there are no ectopic repair templates representing piggyBac empty sites in either plasmid-based assays or in Baculovirus infected cells, piggyBac precise excision is most likely coupled to the cleavage process itself rather than being a consequence of a subsequent repair event.

The IPLB-SF21AE cell line, derived from *S. frugiperda*, was established in the mid 1970's (Vaughn et al., *In Vitro*, Volume 13, 17-23, 1977; herein incorporated by reference) and is devoid of piggyBac homologous sequences, yet piggyBac is capable of excising in IPLB-SF21AE cells when supplied with piggyBac transposase. A previous report (Fraser et al., 1995 *supra*) had established that piggyBac is also capable of transposing in these cells. Since the excision process in IPLB-SF21AE cells apparently reflects the ability of piggyBac to transpose in these cells (Fraser et al., 1995 *supra*), an excision assay for piggyBac is useful in determining the ability of piggyBac to mobilize in other species as well. tagalong (formerly TFP3), another TTAA specific transposable element, is also capable of precise excision in IPLB-SF21AE cells (Fraser et al., 1995 *supra*). tagalong has a smaller DNA sequence than piggyBac and has no apparent coding potential (Fraser, Smith & Summers, *J. Virology*, Volume 47, 287-300, 1983; Wang & Fraser, 1992 *supra*; Wang, Fraser & Cary, 1989 *supra*). Like piggyBac, tagalong was originally isolated as an insertion into the Baculovirus genome after passage of the virus in TN-368 cells (Wang & Fraser, 1992 *supra*).

The extreme specificity for TTAA target sites upon insertion of piggyBac also occurs in uninfected TN-368 cells (Elick et al., 1995 *supra*) eliminating any possible involvement of virus-specified proteins in the target selection and insertion process. piggyBac contains a single ORF that, when interrupted, abolishes the ability of the element to transpose (Fraser et al., 1995 *supra*).

The specificity for TTAA target sites is exhibited by other Lepidopteran transposon-like insertions as well (Beames & Summers, *Virology* 162, 206-220, 1988; Beames & Summers, *Virology*, Volume 174, 354-363, 1990; Carstens, *Virology*, Volume 161, 8-17, 1987; Oellig et al., *J. Virology*, Volume 61, 3048-3057, 1987; Schetter, Oellig & Doerfler, *J. Virology*, Volume 64, 1844-1850, 1990). In addition to TTAA target specificity, all of these Lepidopteran insertions terminate in at least two C residues at the 5' ends of their inverted repeats. Given their similarity in insertion site selection and duplication, these TTAA specific elements are likely to excise in a similar manner.

The ability of a piggyBac derived construct carrying an exogenous gene as the targeted sequence to transpose in vivo has been demonstrated using a Baculovirus genome as the DNA targeted for insertion (Fraser et al., 1995 *supra*). This transposition assay demonstrates that a Lepidopteran transposon is capable of transposing while carrying a marker gene in insect cells.

Following the transposition assay the ability of piggyBac or tagalong inserted elements to excise from the Baculovirus genome was examined. Recovery of excision events relied on the blue/white screening of polh/lacZ tagged tagalong or piggyBac insertions. In contrast with tagalong, none of the white revertants we analyzed from piggyBac excision events resulted from mutation of the polh/lacZ gene. The complete lack of alternative mutations leading to the white revertant plaque phenotype demonstrates that the rate of precise excision for piggyBac exceeds the baseline mutation rate in these infected cells.

tagalong and piggyBac elements do not necessarily require their own transposon-encoded functions for precise excision in baculovirus-infected cells. tagalong excision was effected in both TN-368 cells having resident copies of this element and in SF21AE cells lacking tagalong homologues. Similarly, the piggyBac element excised repeatedly and precisely in SF21AE cells lacking piggyBac homologues. Since there are transpositionally active TTAA-specific elements resident in the SF21AE cell line (Carstens, 1987 *supra*; Beames & Summers, 1988, 1990 *supra*) excision of piggyBac in these cells could reflect the cross-mobilizing activity of some resident TTAA-specific element.

True precise excision is often a site-specific recombination event involving enzymes that recognize specific sequences or structures at or near the termini of the element (for reviews see Sadowski, J. Biol. Chem., Volume 267, 21273-21276, 1993; Plasterk, FASEB, Volume 7, 760-767, 1993. Mizuuchi, Cell, Volume 74, 781-786, 1992). Comparisons between the terminal inverted repeat domains of tagalong and piggyBac, or between these elements and other TTAA specific elements reveal few similarities aside from the target site and three terminal bases, 5' TTAACCC . . . GGGTAA 3', SEQ ID NO 1 and SEQ ID NO 6, respectively.

EXAMPLE 8

The feasibility of the microinjection procedure has been established for *T. ni*, *S. frugiperda*, *S. exigua*, *H. zea*, and *P. interpunctella* embryos, yielding survival rates of 70% or better. A major advantage of the lepidopteran egg development is the relatively extended time from egg laying to blastoderm development (Nagy et al., Dev. Biol., Volume 165, 137-151, 1994). For *T. ni* this period seems to be about 6-8 hours. The amount of DNA injected and the lengthy period before blastoderm formation allows germ line nuclei to become transformed in at least some of the fertile eggs.

The microinjection protocol utilizes approximately two to six hr old *T. ni* eggs. The eggs are attached to a microscope cover slip with double-stick tape without dechorionation. Approximately 2 ml of PBS (about 5 mM KCl, about 100 mM NaH₂PO₄, pH about 6.8) containing approximately 100 ug/ml of plasmid DNA is injected directly into each egg. The perforation in the egg resulting from the needle is sealed with a coating of Krazy Glue. The eggs are then maintained at about 22.degree. C. and about 80% relative humidity for approximately twelve hours with a normal photocycle of about 16 hr:8 hr (light:dark) before being placed on diet.

EXAMPLE 9

Evidence indicates that the piggyBac element transposes through a cut-and-paste mechanism. Thus excision of the element is necessary for transposition. Therefore, excision assays with piggyBac in lepidopteran embryos should be an effective predictor of its ability to transpose in that species. This assay has been used with other transposons and is accepted as an effective predictor of the ability of an element to transpose in a given species (Handler, A. M. and Gomez, S. P. (1995), The hobo transposable element has transposase dependent and -independent excision activity in drosophilid species, Mol. Gen. Genet. 247, 399-408; O'Brochta, D. A., Handler, A. M. (1988), Mobility of P-elements in drosophilids and nondrosophilids. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. (USA) 85, 6052-6056; all herein incorporated by reference.)

Using a supF-tagged piggyBac element (pIFP2BX-supF, FIG. 2), microinjections were performed on *T. ni*, *S. frugiperda*, *S. exigua*, and *H. zea* embryos. Precise excision events characteristic of piggyBac mobilization were observed in all species examined. Surprisingly, these events occurred even in the absence of added helper p3E1.2 plasmid, suggesting the presence of transmobilizing elements in these species. Note there is no possibility for homolog dependent gap repair or homologous exchange with these plasmid constructs, since there are no wild type copies of piggyBac in the cell line used in these studies. The background precise excision suggests there are active cross-mobilizing elements already present in these species. Because excision is a prerequisite for transposition in a cut-and-paste mechanism (see above), the fact that excision occurs is predictive that transposition in these species is possible.

EXAMPLE 10

Precise excisions of the tagged piggyBac transposon from the IFP2BX-supF 4H plasmid were recovered following microinjection of fertile insect eggs by Hirt extraction and transformation of MBL50 E. coli. *S. exigua*, *H. virescens*, *P. interpunctella*, *T. ni*, *S. frugiperda*, *A. aegypti* and *D. melanogaster* fertile insect eggs were injected as described above. Some injections were done with added helper p3E1.2 plasmid while others were done without the helper plasmid. The results are shown below in Table 2. The characteristic precise excision event associated with mobilization of the piggyBac element was recovered from most of the microinjected insects whether or not helper was added. The inability to recover precise excision events in a couple of species is likely due to a low number of total number of supF(-) plasmids available for

analysis. These experiments establish that the characteristic precise excision of piggyBac associated with the transposition event is possible in a wide range of insect species spanning the orders Lepidoptera and Diptera. These results verify that piggyBac may be used for transformation of a wide range of insects.

TABLE 2

Organism	Number supF(-)	Near		Excisions
		Precise	Terminal	
S. exigua - helper	14	1	2	
H. virescens - helper	4	1	0	
P. interpunctella - helper	3	0	1	
T. ni - helper	45	7	2	
S. frugiperda + helper	38	6	1	
S. frugiperda - helper	21	14	0	
A. aegypti + helper	7	2	0	
A. aegypti - helper	13	1	0	
D. melanogaster	1	0	0	

EXAMPLE 11

A phsp 70/opd plasmid and helper p3E1.2 were coinjected into T. ni eggs as described above in example 8. The hsp70/opd gene fusion construct (Benedict et al, Insect Mol. Biol., Volume 3, 247-252, 1994; herein incorporated by reference) was used as the targeted DNA in the transformation construct used for obtaining transgenic T. ni. The opd gene product confers resistance to the insecticide paraoxon. opd is an abbreviation for the parathion hydrolase gene, in this case isolated from *Pseudomonas diminuta* (Benedict et al; supra). The product of this gene metabolizes numerous organophosphorous nerve agents including the insecticides parathion and paraoxon. The particular gene used in this construct encodes a native, cytoplasmic form of the hydrolase protein, and is therefore referred to as copd. The hsp70 heat shock promoter is an inducible promoter that provides high-level expression of the bacterial opd gene when induced. The hsp70/opd gene construct was inserted into pIFP2BX to form phsp/opd plasmid. The p3E1.2hs/opd plasmid was constructed by inserting a PCR amplified hs/opd fragment using primers tailed with BglII sites directly into the unique BGII site within p3E1.2 plasmid, effectively positioning the hs/opd gene within the piggyBac sequence (FIGS. 12b-12m, SEQ ID NO 20). The primers, SEQ ID NO 18 and SEQ ID NO 19, used for the amplification are shown in FIG. 12a.

The eggs were hatched and subsequently mass-mated. The G.sub.1 progeny of the mass-mated microinjected insects were permitted to feed for about 24 hours, heat-shocked for about 60 minutes at about 42.degree. C., rested at about 26.degree. C. and allowed to feed for about an additional 18 hours before being subjected to selection. These heat stressed caterpillars were then allowed to crawl for about 30 minutes on approximately 50 ug/cm.sup.2 paraoxon-treated filter paper disks. Nearly about 30% of all the G2 larvae survived the initial approximately 50 ug/cm.sup.2 dose at a 30 min exposure, while all of the control larvae perished. Cloning of piggyBac sequences seemed to confirm transposition into the genome. Southern blot analysis confirmed the presence of multiple, dispersed copies of piggyBac in the genome of transformed insect progeny (G2) at levels above the two or three copies that serve as background in this insect. All but one of these surviving G1 insects died over the next three days, probably from residual paraoxon. The one putative transformed insect that was obtained was paraoxon resistant and had white eyes. This transformant did not generate fertile eggs and a lineage could not be established.

EXAMPLE 12

A helper plasmid construct was prepared that would supply the transposase activity but would not be capable of transposing. The use of this construct allows the production of transgenic insects having only the desired exogenous DNA inserted into the genome. The construct, 3E1.2 delta TRL was prepared by digesting plasmid p3E1.2 with SstI to remove a DNA fragment from nucleotide 3441 to 3724 of p3E1.2. Removal of this fragment deletes the right terminal repeat of the piggyBac transposon preventing the

element from transposing. The sequence of 3E1.2 delta TRL, SEQ ID NO 10, is as follows:

1 TCGCGCGTTT CGGTGATGAC GGTGAAAACC TCTGACACAT GCAGCTCCCG GAGACGGTCA
61 CAGCTTGTCT GTAAGCGGAT GCCGGGAGCA GACAAGCCCG TCAGGGCGCG
TCAGCGGGTG
121 TTGGCGGGTG TCAGGGCTGG CTTAACTATG CGGCATCAGA GCAGATTGTA
CTGAGAGTGC
181 ACCATATGCG GTGTGAAATA CCGCACAGAT GCGTAAGGAG AAAATACCGC
ATCAGGCC
241 ATTCGCCATT CAGGCTGCGC AACTGTTGGG AAGGGCGATC GGTGCGGGCC
TCTTCGCTAT
301 TACGCCAGCT GGCGAAAGGG GGATGTGCTG CAAGGCGATT AAGTTGGTA
ACGCCAGGGT
361 TTTCCCAGTC ACGACGTTGT AAAACGACGG CCAGTGCCAA GCTTGTAA
AAATATAACA
421 AAATTGTGAT CCCACAAAAT GAAGTGGGGC AAAATCAAAT AATTAACTAG
TGTCCGTAAA
481 CTTGTTGGTC TTCAACTTT TGAGGAACAC GTTGGACGGC AAATCGTGAC
TATAACACAA
541 GTTGTGTTAA TAATTTAGC CAACACGTCG GGCTGCGTGT TTTTGCGCT CTGTGTACAC
601 GTTGTGTTAA AC TGGTCGATTA AATAATTAA TTTTGCGCT TTCTTAAAT CTGTGATGAA
661 ATTTTTAAA ATAACTTAA ATTCTTCATT GGTAAAAAAT GCCACGTTT GCAACTTGTG
721 AGGGTCTAAT ATGAGGTCAA ACTCAGTAGG AGTTTATCC AAAAAAGAAA
ACATGATTAC
781 GTCTGTACAC GAACCGTAT TAACGCAGAG TGCAAAGTAT AAGAGGGTTA
AAAAATATAT
841 TTTACGCACC ATATACGCAT CGGGTTGATA TCGTTAATAT GGATCAATT
GAACAGTTGA
901 TTAACGTGTC TCTGCTCAAG TCTTGATCA AAACGCAAAT CGACGAAAAT
GTGTCGGACA
961 ATATCAAGTC GATGAGCGAA AACTAAAAA GGCTAGAATA CGACAATCTC
ACAGACAGCG
1021 TTGAGATATA CGGTATTCAC GACAGCAGGC TGAATAATAA AAAAAATTAGA
AACTATTATT
1081 TAACCCTAGA AAGATAATCA TATTGTGACG TACGTTAAAG ATAATCATGC
GTAAAATTGA
1141 CGCATGTGTT TTTATCGGTC TGTATATCGA GGTTTATTAA TTAATTGAA

TAGATATTAA

1201 GTTTTATTAT ATTTACACTT ACATACTAAT AATAAATTCA ACAAACAAATT
TATTTATGTT

1261 TATTTATTAA TTAAAAAAAACAAAAACTC AAAATTCTT CTAAAGTAAC
AAAACTTTA

1321 AACATTCTCT CTTTACAAA AATAAACTTA TTTGTACTT TAAAAACAGT
CATGTTGTAT

1381 TATAAAATAA GTAATTAGCT TAACTTATAC ATAATAGAAA CAAATTATAC
TTATTAGTCA

1441 GTCCAGAAC AACTTGCGA CATATCAATA TTATGCTCTC GACAAATAAC
TTTTTGCGAT

1501 TTTTGCACG ATGCATTGC CTTCGCCTT ATTTAGAGG GGCAGTAAGT
ACAGTAAGTA

1561 CGTTTTCA TTACTGGCTC TTCAGTACTG TCATCTGATG TACCAGGCAC
TTCATTGGC

1621 AAAATATTAG AGATATTATC GCGAAATAT CTCTCAAAG TAGGAGCTTC
TAAACGGTTA

1681 CGCATAAACG ATGACGTCAG GCTCATGTA AGGTTCTCA TAAATTTTT
GCGATTGA

1741 ACCTTTCTC CCTTGCTACT GACATTATGG CTGTATATAA TAAAAGAATT
TATGCAGGCA

1801 ATGTTTATCA TTCCGTACAA TAATGCCATA GGCCACCTAT TCGTCTTCCT
ACTGcAGGTC

1861 ATCACAGAAC ACATTGGTC TAGCGTGTCC ACTCCGCCTT TAGTTGATT
ATAATACATA

1921 ACCATTGCG GTTTACCGGT ACTTCGTTG ATAGAAGCAT CCTCATCACA
AGATAATAAT

1981 AAGTATACCA TCTTAGCTGG CTTCGGTTA TATGAGACGA GAGTAAGGG
TCCGTCAAAA

2041 CAAAACATCG ATGTTCCCAC TGGCCTGGAG CGACTGTTT TCAGTACTTC
CGGTATCTCG

2021 CGTTGTTTG ATCGCACGGT TCCCACAATG GTTAACCTAT ACGGTTCTG
TAGTAAGTTT

2161 TTTGCCAAAG GGATTGAGGT GAACCAATTG TCACACGTAA TATTACGACA
ACTACCGTGC

2221 ACAGGCTTTG ATAACCTCCTT CACGTAGTAT TCACCGAGTG GTACTCCGTT
GGTCTGTGTT

2281 CCTCTTCCC AATAAGGCAT TCCATTATC ATATACTTCG TACCACTGTC
ACACATCATG

2341 AGGATTTTA TTCCATACTT ACTTGGCTTG TTTGGGATAT ACATCCTAAA
CGGACACCGT

2401 CCTCTAAAAC CAAGTAACTG TTCATCTATG GTCAAATGAG CCCCTGGAGT
GTAATTGT

2461 ATGCACTGAT GGATAAAGAG ATCCCATATT TTTCTAACAG GAGTAAATAC
ATCGTTTCT

2521 CGAAGTGTGG GCCGTATACT TTTGTATCC ATTCTAACAG ATCGTATCAA
AAAATCCAAA

2581 ACGATCCACA GACTCATTAC AGAGACGTAC ACATTGACAA AGATCGATCC
AAAGAGGTCA

2641 TCTGTGGACA TGTGGTTATC TTTTCTCACT GCTGTCATTA CCAGAATACC
AAAGAAAGCA

2701 TAGATTCAT CTTCATTCTG GTCACGAAAT GTAGCACCTG TCATAGATT
CCGACGTTTC

2761 AATGATATCT CAGCATTGT CCATTTACA ATTTGCAGAA TTATCTCATC
AGTAAAAAAT

2821 AGTTGAAGC ATAAAAGTGG GTCATATATA TTGCGGCACA TACGCGTCGG
ACCTTTGA

2881 GATCTGACAA TGTTCACTGC AGAGACTCGG CTACCGCTCG TGGACTTTGA
AGTTGACCAA

2941 CAATGTTAT TCTTACCTCT AATAGTCCTC TGTGGCAAGG TCAAGATTCT
GTTAGAACGCC

3001 AATGAAGAAC CTGGTTGTT AATAACATT TGTTCGTCTA ATATTCACT
ACGCTTGACG

3061 TTGGCTGACA CTTCATGTAC CTCATCTATA AACGCTTCTT CTGTATCGCT
CTGGACGTCT

3121 TCACTTACGT GATCTGATAT TTCACTGTCA GAATCCTCAC CAACAAGCTC
GTCATCGCCT

3181 TGCAGAAGAG CAGAGAGGAT ATGCTCATCG TCTAAAGAAC ATCCATT
ATTATATATT

3241 AGTCACGATA TCTATAACAA GAAAATATAT ATATAATAAG TTATCACGTA
AGTAGAACAT

3301 GAAATAACAA TATTAATTAT CGTATGAGTT AAATCTAAA AGTCACGTA
AAGATAATCA

3361 TGCCTCATT TGACTCACGC GGTCGTTATA GTTCAAATC AGTGACACTT
ACCGCATTGA

3421 CAAGCACGCC TCAGCCGAGC TCGAATTCTG AATCATGGTC ATAGCTGTTT
CCTGTGTGAA

3481 ATTGTTATCC GCTCACAATT CCACACAACA TACGAGCCGG AAGCATAAAG
TGTAAAGCCT

3541 GGGGTGCCTA ATGAGTGAGC TAACTCACAT TAATTGCGTT GCGCTCACTG
CCCGCTTCCC

3601 AGTCGGGAAA CCTGTCGTGC CAGCTGCATT AATGAATCGG CCAACGCGCG
GGGAGAGGCG

3661 GTTTGCGTAT TGGCGCTCT TCCGCTTCCT CGCTCACTGA CTCGCTGCGC
TCGGTCGTT

3721 GGCTGCGGCG AGCGGTATCA GCTCACTCAA AGGCGGTAAT ACGGTTATCC
ACAGAACATCAG

3781 GGGATAACGC AGGAAAGAAC ATGTGAGCAA AAGGCCAGCA AAAGGCCAGG
AACCGTAAAAA

3841 AGGCCGCGTT GCTGGCGTTT TTCCATAGGC TCCGCCCCCCC TGACGAGCAT
CACAAAAATC

3901 GACGCTCAAG TCAGAGGTGG CGAAACCCGA CAGGACTATA AAGATACCAG
GCGTTTCCCC

3961 CTGGAAGCTC CCTCGTGCCTC TCTCCTGTT CGACCCCTGCC GCTTACCGGA
TACCTGTCCG

4021 CCTTTCTCCC TTCGGGAAGC GTGGCGCTTT CTCAATGCTC ACGCTGTAGG
TATCTCAGTT

4081 CGGTGTAGGT CGTCGCTCC AAGCTGGGCT GTGTGCACGA ACCCCCCGTT
CAGCCCGACC

4141 GCTGCGCCTT ATCCGGTAAC TATCGTCTTG AGTCCAACCC GGTAAGACAC
GACTTATCGC

4201 CACTGGCAGC AGCCACTGGT AACAGGATTA GCAGAGCGAG GTATGTAGGC
GGTGCTACAG

4261 AGTTCTTGAA GTGGTGGCCT AACTACGGCT ACACTAGAAG GACAGTATTT
GGTATCTGCG

4321 CTCTGCTGAA GCCAGTTACC TTCGGAAAAA GAGTTGGTAG CTCTGATCC
GGCAAACAAA

4381 CCACCGCTGG TAGCGGTGGT TTTTTGTTT GCAAGCAGCA GATTACGCGC
AGAAAAAAAG

4441 GATCTCAACA AGATCCTTTG ATCTTTCTA CGGGGTCTGA CGCTCAGTGG
AACGAAAAACT

4501 CACGTTAAGG GATTTGGTC ATGAGATTAT CAAAAAGGAT CTTCACCTAG

ATCCTTTAA

4561 ATTAAGGAAATG AAGTTTAAA TCAATCTAAA GTATATATGA GTAAACTTGG
TCTGACAGTT

4621 ACCAATGCTT AATCAGTGAG GCACCTATCT CAGCGATCTG TCTATTCGT
TCATCCATAG

4681 TTGCCTGACT CCCCGTCGTG TAGATAACTA CGATACGGGA GGGCTTACCA
TCTGGCCCCA

4741 GTGCTGCAAT GATACCGCGA GACCCACGCT CACCGGCTCC AGATTTATCA
GCAATAAAC

4801 AGCCAGCCGG AAGGGCCGAG CGCAGAAGTG GTCCTGCAAC TTTATCCGCC
TCCATCCAGT

4861 CTATTAATTG TTGCCGGAA GCTAGAGTAA GTAGTTCGCC AGTTAATAGT
TTGCGCAACG

4921 TTGTTGCCAT TGCTACAGGC ATCGTGGTGT CACGCTCGTC GTTTGGTATG
GCTTCATTCA

4981 GCTCCGGTTC CCAACGATCA AGGCGAGTTA CATGATCCCC CATGTTGTGC
AAAAAAGCGG

5041 TTAGCTCCTT CGGTCCCTCG ATCGTTGTCA GAAGTAAGTT GGCCGCAGTG
TTATCACTCA

5101 TGGTTATGGC AGCACTGCAT AATTCTCTTA CTGTCATGCC ATCCGTAAGA
TGCTTTCTG

5161 TGACTGGTGA GTACTCAACC AAGTCATTCT GAGAATAGTG TATGCCGGCGA
CCGAGTTGCT

5221 CTTGCCCGGC GTCAATACGG GATAATACCG CGCCACATAG CAGAACTTTA
AAAGTGCTCA

5281 TCATTGGAAA ACGTTCTCG GGGCGAAAAC TCTCAAGGAT CTTACCGCTG
TTGAGATCCA

5341 GTTCGATGTA ACCCACTCGT GCACCCAACG GATCTTCAGC ATCTTTACT
TTCACCAGCG

5401 TTTCTGGGTG AGCAAAAACA GGAAGGCAAATGCCGAAA AAAGGGAATA
AGGGCGACAC

5461 GGAAATGTTG AATACTCAT A CTCTCCTTT TTCAATATTA TTGAAGCATT
TATCAGGGTT

5521 ATTGTCTCAT GAGCGGATAC ATATTGAAT GTATTTAGAA AAATAAACAA
ATAGGGGTTC

5581 CGCGCACATT TCCCCGAAAA GTGCCACCTG ACGTCTAAGA AACCAATTATT
ATCATGACAT

5641 TAACCTATAA AAATAGGCGT ATCACGAGGC CCTTCGTC

EXAMPLE 13

The phsp70/opp plasmid (Example 11 supra) was inserted into p3E1.2 by cutting p3E1.2 with Cla I and then ligating with an adaptor containing a Cla I half-site and Apa I site. The construct was then cut with Apa I and Bam HI. The fragment was gel purified and ligated with gel purified Apa I/Bgl II phsp70/opp fragment. This plasmid is designated piggyBac/opp (FIGS. 7a-7e, SEQ ID NO 14). The phsp/opp marker gene was coinjected with the piggyBac element of p3E1.2 plasmid into Plodia interpunctella genome to test the marker. This confirmed that the hsp/opp gene is an effective selectable marker gene for detecting transformations in insects (Data not shown).

Transformations were attempted by injecting fertile eggs of the Indianmeal moth, Plodia interpunctella with the piggyBac/opp plasmid with the p3E1.2.DELTA.TRL helper (described above in Example 11) as described above in Example 8. The insects were hatched and mass-mated. The G.sub.1 progeny of the mass-mated microinjected insects were permitted to feed for about 24 hours, heat-shocked for about 60 minutes at about 42.degree. C., rested for about 60 minutes at about 26.degree. C. and allowed to feed before being subjected to selection on paraoxon. The optimum time interval between heat shock and paraoxon treatment for P. interpunctella is about 4 to about 8 hours for a maximum period for resistance. The heated stressed caterpillars were then allowed to crawl for about 30 minutes on approximately 50 .mu.g/cm² paraoxon-treated filter paper disks.

Four independent transformed lines were recovered which are now in G.sub.16. Three of these lines are white-eyed mutants. These transformation induced white-eyed mutants of P. interpunctella are genetically similar to those recovered from the laboratory strain as spontaneous white-eyed mutations, because matings between the transformation induced white-eyed insects and the spontaneous white-eyed mutants showed no complementation between the strains. Southern blots of genomic DNA from larvae that were in the tenth generation of these lines show positive hybridization profiles for both piggyBac and hsp/opp sequences that are unique for each strain (FIG. 8, compare lane B with L and C with M). Genomic DNA was extracted from G10 larvae of the PiA-3 and PiA-11 strains of P. interpunctella that were coinjected with piggyBac/opp and p3E1.2.DELTA.TRL. These results indicate that the Indian meal moth, P. interpunctella has been genetically transformed using the piggyBac/opp plasmid as the transforming vector.

The foregoing detailed description is for the purpose of illustration. Such detail is solely for that purpose and those skilled in the art can make variations without departing from the spirit and scope of the invention.

SEQUENCE LISTING

<100> GENERAL INFORMATION:
<160> NUMBER OF SEQ ID NOS: 22
<200> SEQUENCE CHARACTERISTICS:
<210> SEQ ID NO 1
<211> LENGTH: 7
<212> TYPE: DNA
<213> ORGANISM: Artificial Sequence
<220> FEATURE:
<223> OTHER INFORMATION: Description of Artificial SequenceF1-2
<400> SEQUENCE: 1
ttaacc
<200> SEQUENCE CHARACTERISTICS:
<210> SEQ ID NO 2
<211> LENGTH: 13
<212> TYPE: DNA
<213> ORGANISM: Artificial Sequence
<220> FEATURE:
<223> OTHER INFORMATION: Description of Artificial SequenceM17-4
<400> SEQUENCE: 2

cccttagaaag ata 13
<200> SEQUENCE CHARACTERISTICS:
<210> SEQ ID NO 3
<211> LENGTH: 13
<212> TYPE: DNA
<213> ORGANISM: Artificial Sequence
<220> FEATURE:
<223> OTHER INFORMATION: Description of Artificial SequenceM17-4
<400> SEQUENCE: 3
tatcttcata ggg 13
<200> SEQUENCE CHARACTERISTICS:
<210> SEQ ID NO 4
<211> LENGTH: 17
<212> TYPE: DNA
<213> ORGANISM: Trichoplusia ni
<400> SEQUENCE: 4
ttaaccttag aaagata 17
<200> SEQUENCE CHARACTERISTICS:
<210> SEQ ID NO 5
<211> LENGTH: 17
<212> TYPE: DNA
<213> ORGANISM: Trichoplusia ni
<400> SEQUENCE: 5
tatcttcata gggttaa 17
<200> SEQUENCE CHARACTERISTICS:
<210> SEQ ID NO 6
<211> LENGTH: 7
<212> TYPE: DNA
<213> ORGANISM: Trichoplusia ni
<400> SEQUENCE: 6
gggttaa 7
<200> SEQUENCE CHARACTERISTICS:
<210> SEQ ID NO 7
<211> LENGTH: 29
<212> TYPE: DNA
<213> ORGANISM: Artificial Sequence
<220> FEATURE:
<223> OTHER INFORMATION: Description of Artificial Sequenceprimer oligonucleotide MF34
<400> SEQUENCE: 7
ggatccctcta gattaacctt agaaagata 29
<200> SEQUENCE CHARACTERISTICS:
<210> SEQ ID NO 8
<211> LENGTH: 29
<212> TYPE: DNA
<213> ORGANISM: Trichoplusia ni
<400> SEQUENCE: 8
ggatccctcta gattaacctt agaggatcc 29
<200> SEQUENCE CHARACTERISTICS:
<210> SEQ ID NO 9
<211> LENGTH: 6
<212> TYPE: DNA
<213> ORGANISM: Artificial Sequence
<220> FEATURE:
<223> OTHER INFORMATION: Description of Artificial SequenceAseI site
<400> SEQUENCE: 9

attaat

6

<200> SEQUENCE CHARACTERISTICS:

<210> SEQ ID NO 10

<211> LENGTH: 5679

<212> TYPE: DNA

<212> TYPE: DNA
<213> ORGANISM: Artificial Sequence

<215> ORGANISI

<220> FEATURE:
<223> OTHER INFORMATION: Description of Artificial Sequence p3E1.2
delta

TRI

<400> SEQUENCE: 10

tcgcgcgtt cggtgatgac ggtgaaaacc tctgacacat gcagcccg gagacggta 60
cagctgtct gtaageggat gcccggagca gacaagcccg tcagggcgcg tcagccgggt 120
ttggcgggtc tcggggctgg cttaactatg cggcatcaga gcagattgtt ctgagagtgc 180
accatatgcg gtgtgaaata ccgcacagat gcgtaaaggag aaaataccgc atcaggcgc 240
atcgccatt caggctgcgc aacttgtgg aaggccgatc ggtgcggcc tcttgcgtat 300
tacgcccagt ggcgaaaggg ggatgtgtc caaggccgtt aagtgggtt acgcagggt 360
tttccagtc acgacgttgtt aaaacgcacgg ccagtgc当地 gctttgtt aaatataaca 420
aaattgttat ccccacaaat gaagtggggc aaaatcaaata ttacttagt tgccgtaaa 480
cttgtggtc tcaacttt tgaggaacac gtggacggc aaatcgac tataacacaa 540
gtgatttaa taattttagc caacacgtcg ggctcgctgt ttttgcgt ctgtgtacac 600
gtgattaac tggcgatataa ttttggtc ttctttaat ctgtgtatgaa 660
atttttaaa ataactttaa attcttcatt ggtaaaaaaat gcaacttgc 720
agggtctaat atgaggctaa actcagtagg agttttatcc aaaaaagaaa acatgattac 780
gtctgtacac gaacgcgtat taacgcagag tgcaagat aagagggtt aaaaatata 840
tttacgcacc atatacgcatt cgggttgcata cggttaat ggtcaattt gaacagtgt 900
ttaacgtgtc tctgtcaag tcttgcgtca aaacgc当地 cgacgaaaat gtgtcgac 960
atatacgtc gatgagcgaa aactaaaaaa ggctagaata cgacaatctc acagacagcg 1020
ttgagatata cggatttgc acagcgaggc tgaataat aaaaattaga aactatttt 1080
taaccctaga aagataatca tattgtgc acgtttaatg ataatcatgc gtaaaaattg 1140
cgcatgtttt tttatcggtc tgatatacg ggttattttttaattt gaa tagatattaa 1200
gttttattt atttacactt acataactat aataaattca acaaacaatttatttattttt 1260
tattttttttaaaaaaaa acaaaaaactc aaaatttttctt ctaaaaggtaac aaaaactttt 1320
aacattctct cttttacaaa aataaacttta ttttgcgtt taaaaacagt catgtgtat 1380
tataaaataa gtaatttagct taacttatac ataatagaaa caaatttatac tttagtgc 1440
gtccagaaac aactttggca catacataa ttatgcctc gacaataac tttttgcatt 1500
ttttgcacg atgcatttgc ctttgc当地 ttttagagg ggcagtaatc acagtaatgta 1560
cgttttctta ttactggc当地 ttcaactgtc tcatctgtatc taccaggcac ttcatgttgc 1620
aaaatattttag agatatttac gc当地aaatat ctttcaag taggagcttc taaacggta 1680
cgcatataaag atgacgtcg gctcatgtaa aggtttctca taatattttt ggcactttg 1740
acctttctc ctttgc当地tac gacattatgg ctgtatataa taaaagaattt tatgcaggca 1800
atgtttatca ttccgtacaa taatgc当地 ggc当地ctat ctgtcttctc actgcaggc 1860
atcacagaac acattttggc当地 tagegtgtcc actccgc当地 tagtttattt ataatacata 1920
accatttgcg gtttacccggt actttcggtt atagaagcat ctttcatcaca agatgataat 1980
aagtatcca tcttagtgg cttccgggtt taatgagacga gagaatggg tccgtcaaaa 2040
caaaacatcg atgtccac tggcctggag cgacttgc当地 tcatcttc当地 cggtatctcg 2100
cggttgggtt atgcacggc当地 tcccacaatg gtttactt acgggttctg tagtaagttt 2160
tttcccaag ggatttgggtaatg gaaatccatc tcaacgttta tatttgc当地 actaccgtc 2220
acaggccctt ataaacttccctt cacgtatc taccaggatc gtactccgtt ggtctgttt 2280
ccttccca aataaggcat tccatttatac atatacttc当地 taccactgtc acatcatcg 2340
aggatttttta tccatctt actttgc当地 ttgggatc acatctttaa cggacacccgt 2400
ccttccaaac caagtaactt tccatctatg gtcaatggg cccctggagt gtaattttgt 2460
atgcactgtatc ggataaaagat atcccatattt tttcttcaacag gagaatatac atcgatctt 2520
cgaagatgtgg ggc当地tactt ttgttcatcc atttcaagac atcgatc当地 aaaaatccaa 2580
acgatccaca gacttccatc agagacgtac acatttgc当地 agatgatcc acagagggtca 2640
tcttgtggaca ttttgc当地tactt tttcttcaactt gctgttccatcc cccatatacc aaaaagaaagca 2700

tagatttcat ctccattcgt gtcacgaaat gtagcacctg tcatagattc ccgacgttc 2760
aatgataatct cagcatttgt ccattttaca atttgcgaaa ttatctcatc agtaaaaaat 2820
agtttgaagc ataaaagtgg gtcataataa ttgcggcaca tacgcgtcg acctcttga 2880
gatctgacaa tgttcgtgc agagactcg gtcacccgtc tggacttga agttgaccaa 2940
caatgtttat tcattaccctt aataggccctc tggttgcagg tcaagattct gttagaagcc 3000
aatgaagaac ctgggttttc aataacattt tgttcgtcta atatttcact acgcttgacg 3060
ttggctgaca ctccatgtac ctcatctata aacgcatttctt ctgtatcgct ctggacgtct 3120
tcacttacgt gatctgatattt tcactgtca gaatccctac caacaagetc gtcategcct 3180
tgcagaagag cagagaggat atgcgtcatcg tctaaagaac atccccattttt atttatattt 3240
agtcacgata tctataaaca gaaaatatat atataataag ttatcgtacgta agtagaaacat 3300
gaaataaca tattaaattt cgtatcgat taaatctaaa agtcacgtaa aagataatca 3360
tgcgtcattt tgactcacgc gggttataa gttcaaaatc agtgacactt accgcatttga 3420
caagcaegcc tcagccgagc tgcatttcgt aatcatggc atagctgtttt cctgtgtgaa 3480
atttgtatcc gtcacaattt ccacacaaca tacgagccgg aagcataaag tggtaagect 3540
gggggtcccta atgagtggc taactcacat taatttgcgtt ggcgtactg cccgcatttcc 3600
agtcggaaaaa cctgtcgtc cagctgcattt aatgaatcg ccaacgcgcg gggagaggcg 3660
gtttcgat tggggcgctt tccgccttcc cgctactga ctgcgtcgcc tcggcggttc 3720
ggctcgccgcg agcggatca gtcactcaa aggccgtat acgggtatcc acagaatcag 3780
gggataaacgc aggaaagaac atgttgcgaa aaggccagca aaaggccagg aaccgtaaaa 3840
aggcccggtt gtcggcggtt ttccataggc tccgcggccccc tgacgagcat cacaatataatc 3900
gacgctcaag tcagagggtgg cggaaacccga caggactata aagataaccg gcggttcccc 3960
ctggaagtc ctcgtgcgc ttcctgttc cgaccctgccc gcttacccggta taccgtccg 4020
cctttctccc ttccggaaagc gtggcgctt ctcaatgtc acgctgttagg tatctcaatgtt 4080
cggtgttagt cggtcgctcc aagctgggtt gtgtgcacga acccccggtt cagcccgacc 4140
gtcgccgtt atccggtaac ttcgtcttgc agtccaaccc ggtttagtcc acgatccatcge 4200
caactggcagc agccacttgtt aacaggattt gcagagcggag gtatgttaggc ggtgttccag 4260
agtttgcgtttaa gttgtggcgtt aactacggctt aacttagaa gacactattt ggtatctcg 4320
ctctgtcaaa gccagttaacc ttccggaaaaa gagttggtag ctcttgcattcc ggcaaaacaaa 4380
ccacccgtgg tagccgggtt tttttttt gcaagcagca gattacgcgc agaaaaaaag 4440
gatctcaaga agatcccttgc atcttttca cggggctca cgcgttgc aacgaaaact 4500
caegttaaagg gattttggc atgagattt caaaaaggat cttcacccatc atccctttaa 4560
attaaaaatg aagttttaaa tcaatctaaa gtatataatg gtaaaacttgg tctgacagtt 4620
accaatgtt aatcgttgatc gcacccatct cagcgtatcg tctatttgcgtt tcatccatag 4680
ttgcctgact ccccgctgt tagataacta cgataccgggaa gggcttacca tctggccca 4740
gtgtcgat gataccggcga gaccacgtt cacccgttcc agatttatca gcaataaaacc 4800
agccagccgg aaggcccgag cgcagaagtg gtccctgcaac ttatccggcc tccatccagt 4860
ctatatttgc ttccggggaa gcttagatgaa gtagttcgcc agttaatagt ttgcgtcaacg 4920
ttgttgcattt tgctacaggc atcggtgtt cagctcgcc ttgttgcgtt gcttcattca 4980
gctccgttcc ccaacgtca agggcgttta catgtcccc catgttgtc aaaaaaggcg 5040
tttagctccctt cgggtctccg atcggtgtca gaagtagttt ggccgttccatca 5100
tggttatggc agcactgtcat aattcttca ctgtcatgcc atccgttgcgaa tgcgtttctg 5160
tgacttggta gtaactcaacc aagtcatttgc gagaatagt gtagccggcga cggatgttgc 5220
cttgcggccgc gtcaataacgg gataataccg cggccatcatc cagaacttta aaagtgtctca 5280
tcattggaaa acgttcttgc gggcgaaaac ttcgttgcgtt ttcgttgcgtt 5340
gttcgtatca accccactgtt gcacccaaact gatcttgcgtt acctttactt ttcaccaggc 5400
tttctgggtt gcaaaaaaca ggaaggccaaat gtcgttccaa aaggccatca agggcgacac 5460
ggaaatgtt aactactata ctcttccctt tcaatattttt ttgttgcgtt gttttttttt 5520
attgtctcat gaggcgatataattttttttt gttttttttttt ttgttgcgtt gttttttttt 5580
cgccgttcccaat tccggggaaaat gtcgttgcgtt acgttgcgtt aaccattttt atcatgtctca 5640
taacccatataa aataggcgatc acacggcgtt ctttcgtt 5679

<200> SEQUENCE CHARACTERISTICS:

<210> SEQ ID NO 11

<211> LENGTH: 2476

<212> TYPE: DNA

<213> ORGANISM: Trichoplusia ni

<220> FEATURE:

<221> NAME/KEY: CDS

<222> LOCATION: (333)..(2123)

<400> SEQUENCE: 11

cccttagaaat atatgtcgtaaaaatggc gcatgatttgc ttggaaatatt gctctctttt 60
tctaaataggc gcgaaatccgt cgctgtttgc aatttggac atctcagtcg ccgcttgagg 120
ctcggtcgaggc gctgtcttgtt caatgcggta agtgcactg attttgaact ataacgaccg 180
cgtgagtcataatgacgcat gattatcttt tacgtgactt ttaagattta actctatcgaa 240
taattaatataatgtttatcca tggttctactt acgtgataac ttatttatata tatattttct 300
tggttatagat atcgtgacta atatataata aa atg gga tgt tct tta gac gat 353

Met Gly Cys Ser Leu Asp Asp

1 5

gag cat atc ctc tct gct ctt ctg caa ggc gat gag gag ctt gtt ggt 401

Glu His Ile Leu Ser Ala Leu Leu Gln Gly Asp Asp Glu Leu Val Gly
10 15 20

gag gat tct gac agt gaa ata tca gat cac gta agt gaa gac gtc cag 449
Glu Asp Ser Asp Ser Glu Ile Ser Asp His Val Ser Glu Asp Val Gln

25 30 35
 agc gat aca gaa gaa gcg ttt ata gat gag gta cat gaa gtg tca gcc 497
 Ser Asp Thr Glu Glu Ala Phe Ile Asp Glu Val His Glu Val Ser Ala
 40 45 50 55

40 45 50 55
 aac gtc aag cgt agt gaa ata tta gac gaa caa aat gtt att gaa caa 545
 Asn Val Lys Arg Ser Glu Ile Leu Asp Glu Gln Asn Val Ile Glu Gln
 60 65 70

cca ggt tct tca ttg gtc tct aac aga atc ttg acc ttg cca cag agg 593
Pro Gly Ser Ser Leu Ala Ser Asn Arg Ile Leu Thr Leu Pro Gln Arg

act att aga ggt aag aat aaa cat tgt tgg tca act tca aag tcc acg 641

Thr Ile Arg Gly Lys Asn Lys His Cys Trp Ser Thr Ser Lys Ser Thr
90 95 100

agc ggt agc cga gtc tct gca ctg aac att gtc aga tct caa aga ggt 689
Ser Gly Ser Arg Val Ser Ala Leu Asn Ile Val Arg Ser Gln Arg Gly
105 110 115

ccg acg cgt atg tgc cgc aat ata tat gac cca ctt tta tgc ttc aaa 737
Pro Thr Arg Met Cys Arg Asn Ile Tyr Asp Pro Leu Leu Cys Phe Lys

120 125 130 135
cta ttt ttt act gag ata att tcg caa att gta aaa tgg aca aat 785

Leu Phe Phe Thr Asp Glu Ile Ile Ser Gln Ile Val Lys Trp Thr Asn
140 145 150

gct gag ata tca ttg aaa cgt cgg gaa tct atg aca ggt gct aca tt 833
Ala Glu Ile Ser Leu Lys Arg Arg Glu Ser Met Thr Gly Ala Thr Phe

155 160 165
cgt gac acg aat gaa gat gaa atc tat gct ttc ttt ggt att ctg gta 881

Arg Asp Thr Asn Glu Asp Glu Ile Tyr Ala Phe Phe Gly Ile Leu Val
170 175 180

atg aca gca gtg aga aaa gat aac cac atg tcc aca gat gac ctc ttt 929
Met Thr Ala Val Arg Lys Asp Asn His Met Ser Thr Asp Asp Leu Phe
 185 186 187

gga tcg atc ttt gtc aat gtg tac gtc tct gta atg agt ctg tgg atc 977
 G^{C} S H Phe Val A Val Tyr Val Ser Val Met Ser Ile Ter Ile

gtt ttg gat ttt ttg ata cga tgg ctg aga atg gat gac aaa agt ata 1025
 Val Leu Asp Phe Leu Ile Arg Cys Leu Arg Met Asp Asp Lys Ser Ile
 220 225 230

220 225 230
cgcccccacatggaaacgatttactccgttggaaaata 1073
Arg Pro Thr Ile Arg Glu Asp Val Phe Thr Pro Val Arg Ile

Arg Pro Thr Leu Arg Glu Asp Val Phe Thr Pro Val Arg Lys Ile
235 240 245

tgg gat ctc ttt atc cat cag tgc ata caa aat tac act cca ggg gct 1121
Trp Asp Leu Phe Ile His Gln Cys Ile Gln Asn Tyr Thr Pro Gly Ala
250 255 260
cat ttg acc ata gat gaa cag tta ctt ggt ttt aga gga cgg tgt ccg 1169
His Leu Thr Ile Asp Glu Gln Leu Leu Gly Phe Arg Gly Arg Cys Pro
265 270 275
ttt agg atg tat atc cca aac aag cca agt aag tat gga ata aaa atc 1217
Phe Arg Met Tyr Ile Pro Asn Lys Pro Ser Lys Tyr Gly Ile Lys Ile
280 285 290 295
ctc atg atg tgt gac agt ggt acg aag tat atg ata aat gga atg cct 1265

Leu Met Met Cys Asp Ser Gly Thr Lys Tyr Met Ile Asn Gly Met Pro
300 305 310
tat ttg gga aga gga aca cag acc aac gga gta cca ctc ggt gaa tac 1313
Tyr Leu Gly Arg Gly Thr Gln Thr Asn Gly Val Pro Leu Gly Glu Tyr
315 320 325
tac gtg aag gag tta tca aag cct gtg cac ggt agt tgt cgt aat att 1361
Tyr Val Lys Glu Leu Ser Lys Pro Val His Gly Ser Cys Arg Asn Ile
330 335 340
acg tgt gac aat tgg ttc acc tca atc cct ttg gca aaa aac tta cta 1409
Thr Cys Asp Asn Trp Phe Thr Ser Ile Pro Leu Ala Lys Asn Leu Leu
345 350 355
caa gaa ccg tat aag tta acc att gtg gga acc gtg cga tca aac aaa 1457
Gln Glu Pro Tyr Lys Leu Thr Ile Val Gly Thr Val Arg Ser Asn Lys
360 365 370 375
cgc gag ata ccg gaa gta ctg aaa aac agt cgc tcc agg cca gtg gga 1505
Arg Glu Ile Pro Glu Val Leu Lys Asn Ser Arg Ser Pro Val Gly
380 385 390
aca tcg atg ttt tgt ttt gac gga ccc ctt act ctc gtc tca tat aaa 1553
Thr Ser Met Phe Cys Phe Asp Gly Pro Leu Thr Leu Val Ser Tyr Lys
395 400 405
ccg aag cca gct aag atg gta tac tta tta tca tct tgt gat gag gat 1601
Pro Lys Pro Ala Lys Met Val Tyr Leu Leu Ser Ser Cys Asp Glu Asp
410 415 420
gct tct atc aac gaa agt acc ggt aaa ccg caa atg gtt atg tat tat 1649
Ala Ser Ile Asn Glu Ser Thr Gly Lys Pro Gln Met Val Met Tyr Tyr
425 430 435
aat caa act aaa ggc gga gtg gac acg cta gac caa atg tgt tct gtg 1697
Asn Gln Thr Lys Gly Gly Val Asp Thr Leu Asp Gln Met Cys Ser Val
440 445 450 455
atg acc tgc agt agg aag acg aat agg tgg cct atg gca tta ttg tac 1745
Met Thr Cys Ser Arg Lys Thr Asn Arg Trp Pro Met Ala Leu Leu Tyr
460 465 470
gga atg ata aac att gcc tgc ata aat tct ttt att ata tac agc cat 1793
Gly Met Ile Asn Ile Ala Cys Ile Asn Ser Phe Ile Ile Tyr Ser His
475 480 485
aat gtc agt agc aag gga gaa aag gtt caa agt cgc aaa aaa ttt atg 1841
Asn Val Ser Ser Lys Gly Glu Lys Val Gln Ser Arg Lys Phe Met
490 495 500
aga aac ctt tac atg acg tca tcg ttt atg cgt aac cgt tta 1889
Arg Asn Leu Tyr Met Ser Leu Thr Ser Ser Phe Met Arg Asn Arg Leu
505 510 515
gaa gct cct act ttg aag aga tat ttg cgc gat aat atc tct aat att 1937
Glu Ala Pro Thr Leu Lys Arg Tyr Leu Arg Asp Asn Ile Ser Asn Ile

520 525 530 535
 ttg cca aat gaa gtg cct ggt aca tca gat gac agt act gaa gag cca 1985
 Leu Pro Asn Glu Val Pro Gly Thr Ser Asp Asp Ser Thr Glu Glu Pro
 540 545 550
 gta atg aaa aaa cgt act tac tgt act tac tgc ccc tct aaa ata agg 2033
 Val Met Lys Lys Arg Thr Tyr Cys Thr Tyr Cys Pro Ser Lys Ile Arg
 555 560 565
 cga aag gca aat gca tcg tgc aaa aaa tgc aaa aaa gtt att tgt cga 2081
 Arg Lys Ala Asn Ala Ser Cys Lys Cys Lys Cys Lys Val Ile Cys Arg
 570 575 580
 gag cat aat att gat atg tgc caa agt tgt ttc tgg act gac 2123
 Glu His Asn Ile Asp Met Cys Gln Ser Cys Phe Trp Thr Asp
 585 590 595
 taataagtat aattttgttc tattatgtat aagtttaagct aattacttat tttataatac 2183
 aacatgactg tttttaaagt acaaaaataag ttttttttg taaaagagag aatgtttaaa 2243
 agttttgtta cttagaaga aatttttgtt aatttttgtt ttttaataaa taaaataaca 2303
 taaaataaaatt gtttgttcaa ttattattta gttatgtt gttatgtt ttttaataaa taaaacttaa 2363
 tatctattca aattaataaa taaaacctcgatacagacc gataaaaaaca catcgctcaa 2423
 tttagtcat gattatctt aacgtacgtc acaatatgtat tatctttcta ggg 2476
 <200> SEQUENCE CHARACTERISTICS:
 <210> SEQ ID NO 12
 <211> LENGTH: 597
 <212> TYPE: PRT
 <213> ORGANISM: Trichoplusia ni
 <400> SEQUENCE: 12

Met Gly Cys Ser Leu Asp Asp Glu His Ile Leu Ser Ala Leu Leu Gln
 1 5 10 15
 Gly Asp Asp Glu Leu Val Gly Glu Asp Ser Asp Ser Glu Ile Ser Asp
 20 25 30
 His Val Ser Glu Asp Val Gln Ser Asp Thr Glu Glu Ala Phe Ile Asp
 35 40 45
 Glu Val His Glu Val Ser Ala Asn Val Lys Arg Ser Glu Ile Leu Asp
 50 55 60
 Glu Gln Asn Val Ile Glu Gln Pro Gly Ser Ser Leu Ala Ser Asn Arg
 65 70 75 80
 Ile Leu Thr Leu Pro Gln Arg Thr Ile Arg Gly Lys Asn Lys His Cys
 85 90 95
 Trp Ser Thr Ser Lys Ser Thr Ser Gly Ser Arg Val Ser Ala Leu Asn
 100 105 110
 Ile Val Arg Ser Gln Arg Gly Pro Thr Arg Met Cys Arg Asn Ile Tyr
 115 120 125
 Asp Pro Leu Leu Cys Phe Lys Leu Phe Phe Thr Asp Glu Ile Ile Ser
 130 135 140
 Gln Ile Val Lys Trp Thr Asn Ala Glu Ile Ser Leu Lys Arg Arg Glu
 145 150 155 160
 Ser Met Thr Gly Ala Thr Phe Arg Asp Thr Asn Glu Asp Glu Ile Tyr
 165 170 175
 Ala Phe Phe Gly Ile Leu Val Met Thr Ala Val Arg Lys Asp Asn His
 180 185 190
 Met Ser Thr Asp Asp Leu Phe Gly Ser Ile Phe Val Asn Val Tyr Val
 195 200 205
 Ser Val Met Ser Leu Trp Ile Val Leu Asp Phe Leu Ile Arg Cys Leu
 210 215 220
 Arg Met Asp Asp Lys Ser Ile Arg Pro Thr Leu Arg Glu Asn Asp Val
 225 230 235 240
 Phe Thr Pro Val Arg Lys Ile Trp Asp Leu Phe Ile His Gln Cys Ile

245 250 255
Gln Asn Tyr Thr Pro Gly Ala His Leu Thr Ile Asp Glu Gln Leu Leu
260 265 270
Gly Phe Arg Gly Arg Cys Pro Phe Arg Met Tyr Ile Pro Asn Lys Pro
275 280 285
Ser Lys Tyr Gly Ile Lys Ile Leu Met Met Cys Asp Ser Gly Thr Lys
290 295 300
Tyr Met Ile Asn Gly Met Pro Tyr Leu Gly Arg Gly Thr Gln Thr Asn
305 310 315 320
Gly Val Pro Leu Gly Glu Tyr Tyr Val Lys Glu Leu Ser Lys Pro Val
325 330 335
His Gly Ser Cys Arg Asn Ile Thr Cys Asp Asn Trp Phe Thr Ser Ile
340 345 350
Pro Leu Ala Lys Asn Leu Leu Gln Glu Pro Tyr Lys Leu Thr Ile Val
355 360 365
Gly Thr Val Arg Ser Asn Lys Arg Glu Ile Pro Glu Val Leu Lys Asn
370 375 380
Ser Arg Ser Arg Pro Val Gly Thr Ser Met Phe Cys Phe Asp Gly Pro
385 390 395 400
Leu Thr Leu Val Ser Tyr Lys Pro Lys Pro Ala Lys Met Val Tyr Leu
405 410 415
Leu Ser Ser Cys Asp Glu Asp Ala Ser Ile Asn Glu Ser Thr Gly Lys
420 425 430
Pro Gln Met Val Met Tyr Tyr Asn Gln Thr Lys Gly Val Asp Thr
435 440 445
Leu Asp Gln Met Cys Ser Val Met Thr Cys Ser Arg Lys Thr Asn Arg
450 455 460
Trp Pro Met Ala Leu Leu Tyr Gly Met Ile Asn Ile Ala Cys Ile Asn
465 470 475 480
Ser Phe Ile Ile Tyr Ser His Asn Val Ser Ser Lys Gly Glu Lys Val
485 490 495
Gln Ser Arg Lys Lys Phe Met Arg Asn Leu Tyr Met Ser Leu Thr Ser
500 505 510
Ser Phe Met Arg Asn Arg Leu Glu Ala Pro Thr Leu Lys Arg Tyr Leu
515 520 525
Arg Asp Asn Ile Ser Asn Ile Leu Pro Asn Glu Val Pro Gly Thr Ser
530 535 540
Asp Asp Ser Thr Glu Glu Pro Val Met Lys Lys Arg Thr Tyr Cys Thr
545 550 555 560
Tyr Cys Pro Ser Lys Ile Arg Arg Lys Ala Asn Ala Ser Cys Lys Lys
565 570 575
Cys Lys Lys Val Ile Cys Arg Glu His Asn Ile Asp Met Cys Gln Ser
580 585 590
Cys Phe Trp Thr Asp
595

<200> SEQUENCE CHARACTERISTICS:

<210> SEQ ID NO 13

<211> LENGTH: 6723

<212> TYPE: DNA

<213> ORGANISM: Artificial Sequence

<220> FEATURE:

<223> OTHER INFORMATION: Description of Artificial SequenceClone
p3e1.2H/S

<400> SEQUENCE: 13

tgcgcgttt cggtgatgac ggtgaaaacc tctgacacat gcagctcccg gagacggta 60
cagcttgct gtaagcggat gccggagca gacaagcccg tcagggcgcg tcagcgggtg 120

ttggcgggtg tcggggctgg cttactatg cgccatcaga gcagattgtc ctgagagtgc 180
accatatgcg gtgtgaaata ccgcacagat gcgttaaggat aaaataccgc atcaggcgcc 240
attcgccatt caggctgcgc aacttgtggg aaggcgcate ggtgcgggcc ttcgcetat 300
tacgcccaget ggcaaaaggg ggtatgtctg caaggcgatt aagtggta acgcagggt 360
tttcccaigc acgacgttg aaaaacgcgg ccagtgc当地 gctttgtta aaataataaca 420
aaattgtat cccacaaaaa gaagtggggc aaaatcaaat aatataactg tgccgtaaa 480
cttgc当地 ttcaacttt tgaggaacac gttggacgcg aaatcgac tataacacaa 540
gttgattta taattttagc caacacgtcg ggctgc当地 ttttgcget ctgtac 600
gttgatttaac tggc当地 aataatttaa ttttggcc ttctttaaat ctgtatgaa 660
atttttaaa ataactttaa attcttcatt gtaaaaaaaat gccaactttt gcaacttgc 720
agggctaat atgaggctaa actcagtagg agtttatcc aaaaagaaa acatgattac 780
gtctgtacac gaacgcgtat taacgc当地 tgcaactat aagagggtt aaaaatata 840
tttacggcac cataacgc当地 cgggtt当地 tcgttaatggatcaattt gaacagtgc 900
ttaacgtgc当地 tctgtc当地 tctttgatca aaacgc当地 cgacgaaaat gttcggaca 960
atataactg gatgagc当地 aaactaaaaa ggttagataa cgacaatctc acagacagcg 1020
tttagatataa cggatttac gacagc当地 tgaataataa aaaaatttaga aactatttt 1080
taaccctaga aagataatca tattgtacg tacgttaaag ataactatgc gtaaaattga 1140
cgcatgtttt tttatcgcc tttatcgatc ggtttattta ttaatttgc当地 tagatattaa 1200
gttttattttt atttacactt acataactt aataaaattca acaaacaatttatttgc当地 1260
tatttttttta ttaaaaaaaa acaaaaaactc aaaattttt cttaaactgaa acaaacttttta 1320
aacattctct ctttacaaa aataaaacttta ttttgc当地 taaaaacactg catgttgc当地 1380
tataaaatataa gtaatttagct taacttatac ataataaaaaa caaatttatac ttatttagtca 1440
gtccagaaac aacttggca catacataa ttatgc当地 gacaataac tttttgc当地 1500
tttttgc当地 atgc当地 ttc当地 ctttgc当地 attttagagg ggc当地 agtacttgc当地 1560
cgtttttca ttactggcc ttc当地 acttgc当地 tcatctgatc taccaggc当地 ttcatgc当地 1620
aaaatatttag agatatttac ggc当地 aataacttgc当地 ctcttcaag taggagcttgc当地 1680
cgc当地 aacacttgc当地 gtc当地 atgacttgc当地 aggttctca taaaattttt ggc当地 ttgc当地 1740
accttttctc ctttgc当地 acttgc当地 ctgtatataa taaaagaattt tatgc当地 gagga 1800
atgtttatca ttccgtacaa taatgc当地 ggc当地 accttgc当地 tc当地 ctcttactg actgc当地 gaggtc 1860
atcacagaaac acatttggc当地 tagc当地 gtcc local acttgc当地 ctgtatataa 1920
accatttgc当地 gtttacccgt acttgc当地 atagaacttgc当地 ccttcatcaca agatgataat 1980
aagtataccac ttccgtacaa taatgc当地 ggc当地 accttgc当地 tc当地 ctcttactg actgc当地 gaggtc 2040
caaaacatcg tgc当地 acggccccc当地 ctgtatataa tggccgtt当地 tc当地 ctgtatataa 2100
ctcttttctt ttgggtctc tccctctc当地 cactatgc ctcttactg gtc当地 acacttgc当地 2160
aaacggc当地 ctgctctc当地 tggc当地 gaga ggc当地 ggctt当地 cgaatgtgc当地 cgaaaagagc 2220
ggccggaggat aataacttgc当地 gtc当地 ctacttgc当地 cggaggc当地 atttcaacttgc当地 aacaaggcaaa 2280
gtgaacacgt cgctacttgc当地 aacttgc当地 aataaaacttgc当地 cgc当地 acttgc当地 caacttgc当地 2340
aatcttgc当地 aacttgc当地 ttaaaacttgc当地 tcaacttgc当地 gtaaccaggca accaacttgc当地 2400
tcaacttgc当地 ctacttgc当地 tggc当地 aataacttgc当地 gtaacttgc当地 2460
aataacttgc当地 tggc当地 aataacttgc当地 acacacttgc当地 aatccggc当地 atccgtatca 2520
taccgtgc当地 ggtcttacttgc当地 caatcttgc当地 acgggtt当地 acacttgc当地 acgaggc当地 2580
ctggc当地 cggc当地 ctggc当地 cggc当地 ctgtatataa tggccaggat ttcttgc当地 ggc当地 aacacttgc当地 2640
tctacttgc当地 aaggcttgc当地 gaggatttgc当地 cggc当地 cggc当地 gggcttgc当地 tggc当地 acacttgc当地 2700
tgtcgatgt tgc当地 atacttgc当地 cgacttgc当地 ctgtatataa tggccaggat ttcttgc当地 ggc当地 aacacttgc当地 2760
ggcttgc当地 gtc当地 atacttgc当地 tggc当地 cggc当地 ctgtatataa tggccaggat ttcttgc当地 ggc当地 aacacttgc当地 2820
gc当地 gggaggat aacttgc当地 aacttgc当地 gtttccctg tggc当地 gagtttgc当地 aataacttgc当地 2880
cgaagacacc ggaatttggg cggccattt caaggc当地 cggc当地 accacaggca aggccgacccc 2940
cttccaggagg ttacttgc当地 aggc当地 cggc当地 cggc当地 ttggccaggat ttcttgc当地 ggc当地 aacacttgc当地 3000
aaccacttgc当地 acggc当地 gagtttgc当地 tggc当地 cggc当地 ttggccaggat ttcttgc当地 ggc当地 aacacttgc当地 3060
cgaaggcttgc当地 agcccttacttgc当地 gggcttgc当地 tggc当地 gagtttgc当地 gtc当地 acttgc当地 3120
ctatcttgc当地 gcccttgc当地 cggc当地 cggc当地 ctacttgc当地 ctggc当地 accaacttgc当地 3180
tgc当地 gggaggat atacttgc当地 atccggc当地 atccggc当地 ctggc当地 ctggc当地 3240
aacaacttgc当地 ctcttgc当地 aggc当地 ctggc当地 cggc当地 ctggc当地 3300
ttc当地 gagtttgc当地 tggc当地 cggc当地 ctacttgc当地 aacacttgc当地 acgttgc当地 3360
tc当地 ctggc当地 acggc当地 cggc当地 ctggc当地 ctggc当地 3420
gaaggccgtc ccacaggaaac cgcttgc当地 cggc当地 ctacttgc当地 actaacttgc当地 3480

gtcaccgacc ttgcggcgcatgacgccatctggatcta gaatggtttacata 3540
tttacttaattataaaaattacttta gecgttgtcc gataattttatatttaattt 3600
taaacccacat gcaagctttt aataaaatcta tatgtcccg ggatctgaca atgttcagt 3660
cagagactcg gctaccgctc gtggacttgaagttgacca acaatgttta ttcttaccc 3720
taatgtccct ctgtggcaag gtcaagatttgcgtttagaagc caatgaagaa cctgggttt 3780
caataacatt ttgttcgtt aatatttcac tacgcttgcgttggctgac acttcatgt 3840
cctcatctaaacgcttctctgtatgcgttggacgtttcacttaacgtatgtata 3900
tttactgtc agaattccca ccaacaagctcgtcatcgcc ttgcagaaga gcagagagga 3960
tatgtctatc gtctaaagaa catccatttattatataatgttcacgtatctataaca 4020
agaaataataataatataatgttacgt aagtagaaaca tggaaataaca atattaatta 4080
tcgtatgat taaatcttaa aagtcacgtaaagataatc atgcgttatttgactcagc 4140
cggtcggtt agttcaaatcagtgacacttaccgttgcgttggactcgttgg 4200
ctccaaggcg cgactgagat gtcctaaatttgcgttggactcgttggactcgttgg 4260
aagagagagc aatatttcaa gaatgcgtgc gtcaatttttgcgttggacttgcgttgg 4320
ttaaaaaaatgttgcgttttactcgaccta aactttaaac acgtcataga atcttcgtt 4380
gacaaaaacc acatgttgcgttgcgttgcgttggactcgttggactcgttgg 4440
aagtgcgtcgagcgtcactcttgcgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttgg 4500
ggtcatactgttgcgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttgg 4560
ccggaaagcat aaagtgtaaa gcctgggggttgcgttggactcgttggactcgttgg 4620
cggtgcgtcactgtccgttgcgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttgg 4680
tcggccaaacgcgcggggaga ggcgggttgcgttggactcgttggactcgttgg 4740
ctgactcgctgcgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttgg 4800
taatacggtt atccacagaa tcaggggata acgcaggaaacaaatgtga gcaaaaggcc 4860
agcaaaaggc caggaaccgtt aaaaaggcccg ctttgcgttgcgttggactcgttgg 4920
cccctgacga gcatcacaaa aatcgacgttcaagtcagag gtggcgaaac ccgcagg 4980
tataaaagata ccagecggttccccctggaa gctccctgttgcgttggactcgttgg 5040
tgccgcgttac cggataccgttccgcgttgcgttggactcgttggactcgttgg 5100
gctcacgttgcgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttgg 5160
acgaaccccccccgatccgaccgttgcgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttgg 5220
acccggtaag acacgactta tcgecacttgcgttggactcgttggactcgttgg 5280
cgaggatgttgcgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttgg 5340
gaaggacagt atttggatctc tgcgtctgcgttggactcgttggactcgttgg 5400
gtatctctgttgcgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttgg 5460
agcagattac ggcgcggaaa aaaaaggatctca aagaagatcc ttgtatcttctacgg 5520
ctgacgtca gtggaaacaa aactcgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttgg 5580
ggatcttcacatcgatctttaatattaaatgttggactttaatcaatcataatgtt 5640
atgagtaaac ttggcttgcgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttgg 5700
tctgtctatttgcgttcatccatgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttgg 5760
ggggaggcgtt accatgttgcgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttgg 5820
ctccagattt atcagcaata aaccaggccatcgccgttggactcgttggactcgttgg 5880
caactttatc cgcctccatc cagtcattttatgttggactcgttggactcgttgg 5940
cgccaggtaatgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttgg 6000
cgtcggttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttgg 6060
cccccatgtt gtcaaaaaaaacgggttagcttccgttgcgttggactcgttggactcgttgg 6120

agttggccgc agtggatctca ctcatggtta tggcagactgcataattcttactgtca 6180
tgccatccgtt aagatgttgcgttgcgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttgg 6240
agtgtatgttgcgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttgg 6300
atagcagaac tttaaaatgttgcgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttgg 6360
ggatcttacc gctgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttgg 6420
cagtcatttttactttcaccgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttgg 6480
caaaaaaggaaataaggccgc acacggaaatgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttgg 6540
attattgttgcgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttgg 6600
agaaaaataaaacaaatagggttccgttgcgttggactcgttggactcgttggactcgttgg 6660

tcttgtata gatatcgta ctaatatata ataaaatggg atgttctta gacgatgac 2760
atatccttc tgccttcg caaggcgatc acgagcttg tggtagggat tctgacagt 2820
aaatatcaga tcacgtaaatc gaagacgtcc agaggatcatac agaagaagcg tttatagatg 2880
aggtaatcgta agtgcagcc aacgtcaagc gtatgtaaat attagacgaa caaaatgtta 2940
ttgaacaacc aggttcttca ttggcttcta acagaatctt gacccgtcca cagaggacta 3000
tttagggtaa gaataaacat tgggttcaa ctcaaatc cagcggcggt agccgatct 3060
ctgactgaa cattgtcaga tcccggaaac atatagattt attaaagct tgccgttgt 3120
ttaaattaaa tataagaattt atcgacaaac ggctaaagta aattttttaaattttaaagt 3180
aaatgtgtac aaataaaaccat ttctatgtcc agatggcgatc atgacgcccc caaggcggt 3240
gacaagaacc gcgcgggtt agtccatgt atgcctgcca gcttccctg tggacgccc 3300
ttctctcgta ggaatggat cactctcgta ggaatgtcagg ccattccgtc ggggttcacg 3360
cgatccatca cgtccatgtat gttgggtaca tagtctgaaa accccaaacag ccagtcattc 3420
gaaacgagga ttgtttcat gtatgttcc tcgtatgtcc cttgtatcaa gagagccgt 3480
gtttccacg aacggatgcc caggagggtt gatgcactcg cattatcttcc tagaccaatc 3540
gcactgtcgcc gatgtggtc tagacccatgt aggtatccgc ggcgcggag ggccgtgaga 3600
tagctcaat cgtcgtatc atcgatgtca ccaataaaaaa cccgtgaggg gctcaagct 3660
tcggactcaaa aaatggcgcc ctgcgtctca ccattccgtc gactgtcgcc cgttgagtg 3720
gttacccgaa cacccgggttcc caactgtggcc cggccggccg ctttaaacatc taactctgta 3780
aagggggtcg cttccctgtt ggtcgccacc ttgataatgc ccgccttaat tccgggtct 3840
tcgtatccat attgtatc acgecaggaaatc aactgtgtca gttccctac actctcaat 3900
cgcatcgaaa gttggcggttcc gacccacaag ccgtcgccg ccacgatatc aacgtcgcc 3960
gccccggaaa cctcgccaa taaactgacg tcgcgaccga tatcgaaatcg acacatcg 4020
acaatcgatc gcacggccgcg cgctctggccg cggcgaatc ctccacagc ctttcccg 4080
agagcttgcg ggctaccgaa gaactctggc caagcacgca agaattctgc ctagctggc 4140
cagatgtgtcc cgttgatgtcc tggtaaaaccc gttccagaga ttgtatgtcc accgcgcacg 4200
gtattgtatcc gatgcggccgaaatcattctgtatc tggtaattccg tacctaattc ccaattccct 4260
attcagatgtt ctcttcttatttcaatataat tacttcttgc cagatttcgat tagttcgat 4320
tgattttactt ggttgctgtt tacttttaat tgatttcattt taacttgcac ttacttgcag 4380
attgtttatc ttgttcattt ggccttgcattt attttcattt ctttcattttaatc gggatgtgtt 4440
cactttgcattt gtttgcattt aatttgcattt cccgtacgaa agegcctcta ttataactcc 4500
ggcgtctttt tcgcgaaatc tcggccgcg ctctctcgaa ccaacggag cgtatgcgg 4560
tttacttgcgtt gacagatgtt gggatgttgc gatgttgcattt gggatgttgc gggatgttgc 4620
gagagaataa cgaataacgg ccagagaaaat ttctcgaggg gggccctgtt gcacgatgtt 4680
ttgtttgcac gggcccttaatc ctctcgatc atataaaccg aagccagcttca agatggata 4740
cttattatca tcttgcgtt gggatgttgc tatcaacgaa agtaccggta aaccgcaat 4800
ggttatgtt gataatcaaa ctaaaggccg agtggacacg ctggccaaatc tggatgttgc 4860
gatgacccgttcc agtggacacg cggccatgttcc ttatgttgc gatgttgc 4920
cattgcgttcc ataaattttt ttattatataat cggccataat gtcgtatgtcc agggagaaaa 4980
ggttcaatgtt cgcggccatgttcc cttttatgttcc agcgttgcgtt catgttttat 5040
gcgttccatgttcc ttggatgttcc gatgttgcattt cggccatataat tcttcaat 5100
tttgcgttcc gatgttgcattt gtcgtatgtcc ttatgttgc gatgttgc 5160
acgttccatgttcc tttttatgttcc aataaggccg aaggccatgttcc catgttgc 5220
aaaatgttcc ataaattttt ttggatgttcc gatgttgcattt cttttatgttcc 5280
gacttccatgttcc taatgttgcattt gtcgtatgtcc ttatgttgc gatgttgc 5340
ataatcaac atgactgttcc ttggatgttcc gatgttgcattt cttttatgttcc 5400
gtttttatgttcc ttggatgttcc gatgttgcattt cttttatgttcc 5460
ataaaatcaatc ataaattttt ttggatgttcc gatgttgcattt cttttatgttcc 5520
aacttcaatc ataaattttt ttggatgttcc gatgttgcattt cttttatgttcc 5580
gcgttccatgttcc ttggatgttcc gatgttgcattt cttttatgttcc 5640
ttaaataataat cttttatgttcc gatgttgcattt cttttatgttcc 5700
caacgcgttcc ttggatgttcc gatgttgcattt cttttatgttcc 5760
tatttgcgttcc cttttatgttcc gatgttgcattt cttttatgttcc 5820
taatcaacttgc tttttatgttcc gatgttgcattt cttttatgttcc 5880
aaaatataatc tttttatgttcc gatgttgcattt cttttatgttcc 5940
gacgttccatgttcc ttggatgttcc gatgttgcattt cttttatgttcc 6000
cctcacaatgttcc ttggatgttcc gatgttgcattt cttttatgttcc 6060

aatttcatca cagatttaaa gaagaaccaa aaattaaatt attaatcga ccagttaatc 6120
aacgtgttac acagacgcaa aaaacacgca gccccgcgtg ttggctaaaa ttataatc 6180
aacttgttt atatgcacga ttgccgtcc aacgtgtcc tcaaaaatgtt gaagaccaac 6240
aagtttacgg acactagttt attatttgat ttgcggcac ttcatttgtt gggatcacaa 6300
tttggttata tttaaacaacaa agctggcac fggccgtgt ttacaacgt ctgtactggg 6360
aaaaccctgg cgttacccaa cttaatcgcc ttgcagcaca tcccccttc gccagctggc 6420
gtaatagcga agaggcccgc accgategcctt cttccaaaca gtgcgcagc ctgaatggcg 6480
aatggcgctt gatgcggat ttctcttta cgcacatgtt cggattttca cacggcatat 6540
ggtgcaactct cagttacaatc tgctctgtat ccgcataggta aagccagccc egacaccggc 6600
caacaccggc tgacgcggcc tgacgggtt gtctgtccc ggcatccgc tacagacaag 6660
ctgtgaccgtt ctccgggagc tgcatgttc agaggtttc accgtcatca ccgaaacccgc 6720
cga 6723

<200> SEQUENCE CHARACTERISTICS:

<210> SEQ ID NO 15

<211> LENGTH: 6448

<212> TYPE: DNA

<213> ORGANISM: Artificial Sequence

<220> FEATURE:

<223> OTHER INFORMATION: Description of Artificial SequencepcrII clone

of piggyBac sequence

<400> SEQUENCE: 15

tgtgatgacc tgca~~gt~~tagga agac~~ga~~atag gtggcctatg gcattattgt acggat~~at~~gt 2100
aaacattgcc tgcataaatt cttttattat atacagecat aatgtc~~ag~~ta gcaagg~~gg~~aga 2160
aaaggtcaa agtc~~g~~caaaa aatttat~~g~~ag aaac~~c~~ttac atgagcct~~g~~a cgtcatcg~~t~~ 2220
tatgc~~g~~taac cg~~t~~ttagaag ctcc~~t~~actt gaagagat~~at~~ ttgc~~g~~cgata atatct~~ta~~ 2280
tatttt~~g~~cca aatga~~at~~gtc gtgg~~t~~acat~~g~~ agat~~g~~acagt actgaag~~ag~~ c~~a~~gt~~a~~at~~g~~aa 2340
aaaac~~g~~tact tact~~g~~tactt actgccc~~c~~ taaaataagg c~~g~~aaagg~~ca~~ atgc~~a~~at~~g~~tg 2400
caaaaaat~~g~~c aaaaag~~t~~ta tt~~g~~tc~~g~~aga~~g~~ g~~c~~ataa~~t~~att~~g~~at~~g~~cc~~a~~ a~~a~~gt~~t~~ttt 2460
ctggact~~g~~ac taataa~~g~~at~~t~~ aattt~~g~~ttc tattat~~g~~ta a~~g~~tt~~a~~act~~t~~ 2520
tttataa~~t~~ac aacat~~g~~act~~g~~ tttt~~aa~~ag~~t~~ aaaaataa~~g~~ ttattttt~~g~~ taaaag~~ag~~ag 2580
aatgtt~~aa~~aa agttt~~g~~tt~~a~~ cttt~~g~~aga~~g~~ aattt~~g~~ag~~t~~ tt~~g~~ttttt~~tt~~tt~~aa~~aa 2640
taaataa~~a~~aca taaataa~~a~~att~~t~~tt~~g~~taa~~g~~ tttattat~~t~~ g~~t~~at~~g~~taa~~g~~t gtaaataa~~a~~ 2700
taaaact~~ta~~ta tat~~c~~tatt~~ca~~ aattaataa~~aa~~ taaac~~c~~t~~g~~a tatac~~a~~gacc~~g~~ gataaaa~~a~~aca 2760
cat~~g~~cg~~ta~~aa ttt~~ac~~g~~ca~~t gattat~~c~~tt aac~~g~~t~~ac~~tc acaat~~at~~gat~~t~~at~~c~~ttt~~c~~ta 2820
gggggat~~c~~ct~~t~~at~~g~~aa~~a~~g~~cc~~ gaatt~~c~~t~~g~~ca gata~~cc~~at~~c~~ acact~~gg~~cg~~gg~~ ccg~~c~~t~~g~~g~~ag~~ 2880
atgc~~a~~at~~g~~tag agggcc~~aa~~at~~t~~ tcg~~c~~c~~t~~ata~~t~~ gtg~~a~~g~~t~~cg~~t~~a ttacaatt~~ca~~ ctgg~~c~~c~~t~~cg 2940
ttt~~ac~~aca~~ac~~ t~~c~~gt~~t~~act~~g~~ gaaaac~~c~~ct~~g~~ g~~c~~gt~~i~~ac~~cc~~a acttaat~~cg~~c ct~~g~~c~~a~~g~~c~~ac 3000
atcccc~~c~~tt~~t~~ c~~g~~cc~~a~~g~~c~~t~~g~~ c~~t~~ga~~a~~ta~~g~~cg~~a~~ a~~a~~gagg~~gg~~cg~~g~~ cacc~~g~~at~~g~~gc~~c~~ c~~c~~tt~~cc~~aa~~ac~~c 3060
agtt~~g~~cg~~cg~~ cct~~g~~ga~~a~~t~~g~~gc~~c~~ gaat~~g~~gg~~gg~~ac~~g~~ cgcc~~c~~ct~~g~~tg~~a~~ cg~~g~~g~~g~~c~~g~~ 3120
gtgt~~gg~~gt~~g~~gt~~t~~ tac~~g~~cg~~c~~g~~ac~~ g~~t~~gacc~~g~~eta cact~~g~~cc~~g~~ag~~c~~ cgcc~~c~~ct~~g~~ag~~c~~g cccg~~c~~t~~c~~t~~t~~ 3180
tcg~~c~~ttt~~c~~t~~t~~ ccc~~t~~tc~~t~~tt~~c~~ ctc~~g~~cc~~a~~c~~t~~ t~~c~~g~~c~~gg~~g~~ct~~t~~ t~~c~~cc~~c~~gt~~a~~aa~~t~~ g~~c~~t~~c~~taa~~a~~at~~c~~ 3240
ggggg~~c~~t~~c~~cc~~t~~tt~~g~~agg~~g~~tt~~c~~ c~~g~~at~~t~~ta~~g~~ag~~t~~ cttt~~ac~~cg~~g~~ca cct~~c~~cg~~a~~cc~~g~~c aaaaact~~tg~~ 3300
at~~t~~t~~g~~gg~~g~~t~~a~~ t~~g~~gtt~~c~~ac~~g~~t agf~~g~~gg~~g~~cc~~at~~ c~~g~~cc~~c~~ct~~g~~ata~~t~~ g~~a~~c~~g~~gt~~t~~ttt~~g~~ c~~g~~cc~~c~~tt~~g~~a 3360
cgt~~g~~g~~g~~tc~~c~~ cac~~g~~tt~~c~~t~~t~~ aat~~g~~tg~~g~~ac~~g~~ t~~c~~ct~~g~~tt~~c~~ca aact~~g~~ga~~a~~aca acact~~ca~~acc 3420
ctat~~g~~cg~~g~~gt~~t~~ ctatt~~c~~ttt~~t~~ gattt~~aa~~a~~g~~ ggatttt~~g~~cc~~c~~ gatt~~g~~gg~~g~~cc~~c~~ tatt~~g~~tt~~a~~a 3480
aaaat~~g~~ag~~g~~et~~t~~ gattt~~aa~~a~~cc~~ att~~c~~agg~~gg~~cg~~c~~ caagg~~gg~~ct~~g~~ taa~~g~~ga~~a~~acc~~g~~ g~~g~~aa~~a~~ac~~g~~ta 3540
gaa~~g~~cc~~at~~ c~~g~~cg~~a~~aa~~ac~~ g~~g~~tg~~c~~t~~g~~acc~~g~~ c~~g~~gg~~at~~g~~a~~at~~t~~ g~~t~~c~~a~~g~~c~~t~~a~~ct~~g~~ 3600
gaca~~g~~gg~~aa~~ aac~~g~~ca~~g~~cg~~c~~ caa~~g~~ag~~g~~aaa~~g~~ g~~c~~ag~~g~~tag~~c~~ t~~g~~ca~~g~~t~~g~~gg~~c~~ ttac~~at~~g~~g~~cg~~c~~ 3660
at~~g~~at~~g~~tag~~c~~ ac~~g~~gg~~gg~~tt~~t~~ tat~~g~~gac~~g~~ac~~g~~ a~~g~~g~~c~~ga~~cc~~g~~c~~ gaatt~~g~~cc~~c~~ag~~t~~ ct~~g~~gg~~g~~cg~~c~~cc 3720
ct~~c~~t~~g~~ta~~g~~ ag~~g~~gg~~g~~g~~a~~ag~~c~~ c~~t~~gc~~a~~aa~~g~~t~~t~~ a~~a~~act~~g~~g~~at~~ g~~c~~t~~t~~tt~~t~~g~~c~~ e~~g~~cc~~a~~agg~~at~~ 3780
ct~~g~~at~~g~~gg~~g~~c~~c~~ ag~~g~~gg~~g~~at~~ca~~ g~~a~~t~~c~~t~~g~~at~~c~~ a~~g~~ag~~g~~ac~~g~~agg~~t~~ tg~~g~~agg~~at~~gt~~t~~ tt~~g~~cat~~g~~at~~t~~ 3840
t~~g~~aa~~ca~~ag~~at~~ g~~g~~att~~g~~ca~~c~~g c~~g~~g~~t~~tc~~c~~c g~~g~~cc~~c~~ct~~g~~tg~~a~~ gt~~g~~gg~~g~~ag~~g~~g~~c~~ t~~at~~tc~~g~~g~~c~~ta 3900
tg~~a~~ct~~g~~gg~~ca~~ caa~~ca~~g~~ac~~aa~~ca~~ tc~~g~~g~~c~~t~~g~~ct~~c~~ tg~~a~~t~~g~~cc~~g~~cc~~c~~ gt~~g~~t~~c~~ag~~g~~g~~c~~ 3960
gggg~~g~~cc~~cc~~g~~c~~ g~~t~~t~~t~~tt~~t~~ t~~c~~ca~~g~~acc~~g~~ a~~c~~c~~t~~g~~c~~ct~~g~~g~~t~~ g~~c~~cc~~c~~ta~~at~~ g~~a~~act~~g~~cg~~g~~g~~a~~ 4020
cg~~g~~agg~~g~~ac~~g~~ c~~g~~g~~c~~t~~c~~at~~g~~ct~~t~~ g~~g~~ct~~g~~gg~~cc~~ac~~g~~ g~~a~~c~~g~~gg~~gg~~cg~~t~~ c~~c~~ct~~g~~cg~~c~~ct~~g~~ga 4080
cg~~t~~tt~~g~~tc~~a~~t~~c~~ g~~a~~ag~~g~~gg~~gg~~aa~~g~~ g~~g~~g~~a~~ct~~g~~g~~c~~t~~g~~ g~~c~~t~~at~~tt~~g~~gg~~c~~ g~~g~~g~~g~~agg~~at~~ 4140
c~~c~~t~~g~~tc~~a~~t~~c~~ t~~c~~g~~c~~ct~~g~~ct~~c~~ ct~~g~~cc~~g~~ag~~g~~aa~~g~~ agt~~at~~cc~~at~~ t~~g~~at~~g~~ct~~g~~at~~c~~ g~~a~~at~~g~~cg~~g~~g~~c~~ 4200
g~~t~~c~~g~~at~~c~~ac~~g~~g~~c~~ ct~~g~~t~~at~~cc~~g~~g~~c~~ t~~c~~ac~~c~~t~~g~~cc~~c~~ att~~g~~acc~~ac~~ caa~~g~~cg~~a~~aa~~ac~~ at~~c~~gc~~a~~t~~c~~g~~a~~ 4260
g~~c~~g~~g~~ag~~ac~~gt~~t~~ ac~~t~~cg~~g~~at~~g~~g~~t~~ a~~a~~g~~c~~cc~~g~~gt~~t~~ t~~t~~g~~c~~at~~g~~ca~~g~~ g~~a~~t~~g~~at~~c~~tt~~g~~ 4320
tc~~ag~~gg~~g~~ct~~c~~ g~~g~~cc~~c~~ag~~g~~cc~~c~~ aact~~g~~t~~c~~g~~c~~ c~~g~~g~~c~~t~~ca~~ag~~t~~ g~~g~~cg~~c~~at~~g~~cg~~c~~ 4380
gg~~a~~t~~c~~t~~g~~tc~~t~~ g~~t~~g~~a~~t~~c~~ g~~c~~g~~a~~t~~c~~ct~~g~~ g~~t~~t~~g~~cc~~g~~aa~~at~~ t~~g~~cc~~g~~gg~~c~~ 4440
ct~~t~~tt~~c~~t~~g~~ga~~t~~ t~~t~~ca~~ac~~g~~a~~c~~t~~ g~~t~~g~~g~~cc~~g~~g~~c~~ g~~g~~gt~~t~~g~~g~~cg~~c~~ g~~a~~c~~g~~ct~~c~~t~~c~~ agg~~ac~~at~~g~~ 4500
gt~~g~~tg~~g~~at~~t~~acc~~t~~ c~~g~~t~~g~~at~~t~~tg~~a~~ g~~t~~ga~~g~~ag~~g~~ct~~t~~ t~~g~~g~~g~~cg~~g~~aa~~g~~ t~~g~~gg~~g~~gt~~t~~g~~g~~acc~~t~~ g~~t~~c~~t~~ct~~g~~ct~~g~~ 4560
g~~c~~t~~t~~tc~~g~~at~~t~~gt~~t~~ at~~c~~gc~~g~~cg~~c~~tc~~t~~ c~~g~~g~~t~~tc~~g~~ct~~c~~ g~~g~~cg~~c~~at~~c~~cc~~t~~ tt~~t~~t~~g~~g~~a~~ca~~g~~ 4620
gt~~t~~t~~t~~tc~~g~~ta~~t~~tt~~aa~~a~~g~~ gaag~~g~~ag~~g~~at~~t~~ g~~a~~t~~t~~tt~~aa~~ca~~at~~tt~~cc~~gt~~t~~ g~~c~~cc~~c~~tt~~t~~tt~~aa~~ 4680
cc~~c~~t~~t~~tt~~t~~g~~c~~ g~~g~~gg~~c~~at~~t~~tt~~t~~ t~~t~~t~~g~~tc~~g~~acc~~t~~ c~~g~~aga~~aa~~ac~~g~~ g~~a~~t~~g~~at~~c~~tt~~g~~ 4740
aa~~a~~g~~a~~t~~g~~ct~~t~~ g~~a~~ag~~at~~cg~~t~~ g~~g~~gt~~g~~tc~~g~~ac~~g~~ g~~t~~g~~g~~tt~~t~~aca~~g~~t~~g~~tt~~c~~ g~~t~~ca~~ac~~g~~g~~ 4800
gg~~ta~~ag~~at~~c~~t~~ tt~~g~~g~~g~~ag~~tt~~ t~~c~~g~~g~~cc~~cc~~aa~~g~~ g~~a~~ac~~g~~t~~tt~~tc~~t~~ caat~~g~~at~~g~~g~~t~~g~~a~~ 4860
gt~~t~~t~~c~~t~~g~~ct~~t~~ g~~t~~g~~a~~t~~c~~act~~t~~ attat~~cc~~gt~~t~~ att~~g~~ac~~g~~cc~~g~~ gg~~ca~~ag~~ag~~ac~~g~~ a~~c~~t~~c~~cg~~g~~tc~~g~~ 4920
cg~~c~~cat~~a~~act~~t~~att~~ct~~ca~~g~~aa~~g~~ t~~g~~act~~tt~~gg~~t~~ g~~a~~gt~~t~~act~~ca~~c~~t~~ c~~g~~at~~g~~ca~~g~~ 4980
ac~~g~~gg~~at~~gg~~ca~~ tg~~a~~ca~~g~~ta~~g~~ ag~~a~~att~~at~~g~~c~~ a~~g~~t~~g~~ct~~g~~cc~~t~~ ta~~ac~~cat~~g~~g~~t~~ g~~t~~ata~~ac~~act~~t~~ 5040
gc~~g~~gg~~cc~~ca~~act~~ tac~~t~~t~~c~~t~~g~~ac~~g~~ a~~a~~c~~g~~at~~c~~cg~~g~~ga~~gg~~ a~~g~~cta~~ac~~cc~~g~~ t~~t~~tt~~t~~tg~~c~~ac~~g~~ 5100
a~~a~~cat~~g~~gg~~gg~~g~~a~~ at~~c~~at~~g~~ta~~ac~~ t~~c~~g~~c~~tt~~g~~at~~t~~ c~~g~~t~~g~~gg~~g~~aa~~g~~ c~~g~~g~~g~~act~~g~~g~~a~~ 5160
cc~~aa~~ac~~g~~ac~~g~~ ag~~ag~~tg~~g~~ac~~ac~~ c~~a~~c~~g~~at~~g~~ct~~t~~ g~~t~~g~~a~~ca~~t~~g~~g~~cc~~t~~ g~~g~~ca~~aa~~act~~t~~ 5220
t~~ta~~a~~act~~gg~~cc~~ g~~a~~a~~c~~t~~tt~~ac~~t~~ t~~c~~ta~~g~~ct~~t~~cc~~c~~ cg~~g~~ca~~a~~aca~~t~~ ta~~at~~g~~g~~act~~t~~ g~~a~~at~~g~~gg~~gg~~cg~~c~~ 5280
g~~a~~ata~~aa~~g~~tt~~ c~~g~~agg~~ac~~act~~t~~ t~~c~~tc~~g~~cg~~t~~cg~~c~~ g~~cc~~ct~~t~~cc~~g~~g~~c~~ ct~~g~~g~~g~~ct~~t~~tt~~t~~ t~~t~~at~~g~~ct~~g~~ 5340
aa~~a~~at~~c~~t~~g~~g~~g~~ c~~g~~g~~g~~t~~g~~ag~~cg~~ g~~t~~gg~~g~~tc~~g~~cg~~c~~ g~~g~~gt~~t~~at~~c~~tt~~g~~ c~~g~~ac~~g~~act~~gg~~ g~~cc~~ag~~at~~g~~g~~ 5400

aagegctccc gtatcgtat tatctacacg acggggagtc aggcaactat gnatgaacga 5460
aatagacaga tcgctgagat aggtgcctca ctgattaagc attggtaact gtcagaccaa 5520
gtttactcat atatacttta gattgattha aaacttcatt ttaattaa aaggatctag 5580
gtgaagatcc ttttgataa tctcatgacc aaaatccctt aacgtgatg ttgcgtccac 5640
tgagcgtagc accccgtaga aaagatcaa ggatcttctt gagatctttt ttttgcgc 5700
gtaatctgt gctgcaac aaaaaaacca ccgcgtaccag cgggtggttt ttgccggat 5760
caagagctac caactttt tccgaaggta actggctca gcagagcga gataccaaat 5820
actgtccctc tagttagcc gtagttagcc caccacttca agaactctgt agcaccgc 5880
acataacctcg ctctgtaat cctgttacca gtggctgtc ccagtggcga taagtctgt 5940
cttacccgggt tggactcaag acgatagttt ccggataagg cgccgcgtc gggctgaacg 6000
gggggttcgt gcacacagcc cagctggag cgaacgacctt acaccgaactt gagataccta 6060
cagcgtagc tatgagaag cgcacgttccc cccgaaggga gaaaggcggc caggatccg 6120
gtaagccgc gggtcggaaac aggagagcgc acgagggagc ttccaggggg aaacgcctg 6180
tatcttata gtcctgtcg gttcgcac ctctgacttgc agcgtcgatt ttgtgtatgc 6240
tcgtcagggg ggcggagct atggaaaaac gecagcaacg cggcctttt acggctctg 6300
ggcttttgtc ggcctttgc tcacatgttcc ttcctgtatccctgtatccctgt 6360
aaccgttata ccgcctttaa gtgagctgtt accgcgttcc gcagccgaac gaccgagcgc 6420
agcgagtcag tgagcgagga agcggaaag 6448

<200> SEQUENCE CHARACTERISTICS:

<210> SEQ ID NO 16

<211> LENGTH: 5194

<212> TYPE: DNA

<213> ORGANISM: Artificial Sequence

<220> FEATURE:

<223> OTHER INFORMATION: Description of Artificial Sequenceplasmid

IFP2B/Xpuc18.1

<400> SEQUENCE: 16

tcgcgcgtt cgggtatgac ggtgaaaacc tctgacacat gcaagctccc gagacggtca 60
cagcttgtct gtaagccgtt gcccggagca gacaagcccg tcagggcgcg tcagccgggt 120
ttggcgggtg tcggggctgg ctaactatg cggcatcaga gcagattgtt ctgagagtgc 180
accatatcgcc gtgtgaaata ccgcacagat gcgttaaggaa aaaaatccgc atcaggcc 240
attcgccatt caggctgcgc aactgttggg aaggccgtt ggtgcccgc tcttcgtat 300
tacgcccgcgtt ggcgaaaggg ggatgtgttgc caaggccgtt aagtgggtt acgcccagggt 360
tttcccaatgc acgacgttgc taaaacgcacgg ccagtgcacatgc ctgcagggtc 420
actcttagagg gatcctcttag attaacccta gaaagatagt ctgcgtaaaa ttgacgcatg 480
cattcttgcgaa atattgtctt ctcttcttgcgaa tccgtcgatgtt ttgcattt 540
aggacatctc agtcgcgcgtt tggagctgg ctgaggcgatgtt ctgtcaatgc cggtaagtgt 600
caacttgcgtt gaaactataac gaccgcgtt gtcggatgtt cgcgttgcgtt 660
gacttttaag attaactca tacgataatt aatattgtt tttcatgtt tacttacgt 720
ataacttattt atatatatattt ttcttgcgtt tagatatgtt gactaataata taataaaatg 780
ggatgttctt tagacgttgc gcatatccctc tctgtcttc tgcaaggcgtt tgacgagttt 840
gttgggttgcgatttctgcgtt tgaaatatca gatcacgtt gtaagacgtt ccagacgtt 900
acagaagaag cgtttatata gtaggttgcgtt gaagtgttgcgtt ccaacgttca ggttgcgtt 960
atatttagacg aacaaaatgtt tattgaaaca ccaggcttctt cattggcttc taacagaatc 1020
ttgaccttcg cacagaggac tatttagaggat aagaataaaac attgtggcgtt aacttcaag 1080
tccacgacccgtt ctgcgttgcgtt aacattgttca gatcttcaag aggtccgcgtt 1140
cgtatgttgc gcaatata tgcgttgcgtt aacttgcgtt tacttgcgtt 1200
ataatttgcgaaatgttata atggacaaat gctgatgttgcgtt cattgttgcgtt 1260
atgacaggttgcgtt ctacatttgcgtt tgacacgtt gaaatgttgcgtt tttttgttgcgtt 1320
ctggtaatgttgcgtt cagcgttgcgtt aaaagataac ccatgttca gatgttgcgtt 1380
atctttgttgcgtt atgtgttgcgtt ctctgttgcgtt agtctgttgcgtt tttttgttgcgtt 1440
cgatgttgcgtt gaaatgttgcgtt caaaagataac cggccacac ttcgagaaaaa cgatgttgcgtt 1500
actccgttgcgtt gaaaatgttgcgtt atccatgttgcgtt gcatcaaaaa ttacacttca 1560

ggggctcatt tgaccataga tgaacagtta ctgggttta gaggacggtg tccgtagg 1620
atgtatacc caaacaagcc aagaatgtt ggaataaaaaa tcctcatgt gtgtgacagt 1680
ggtacgaagt atatgataaa tggaaatgcct tatttggaa gaggaacaca gaccaacgg 1740
gtaccactcg gtgaatacta cgtgaaggag ttatcaaagc ctgtcacgg tagtgtcgt 1800
aatattacgt tgacaatttgc atcccatttttggaa caaaaactt actacaagaa 1860
ccgtataagt taaccattgt gggaaacggc cgatcaaaca aacgcgagat accgaaagta 1920
ctgaaaaaca gtcgcctcag gccagtgaa acatcgatgt ttgttttga cggaccctt 1980
actctcgct catataaacc gaagecagct aagatggat acttattatc atcttgat 2040
gaggatgtt ctatcaacgaa aagtaccggaa aacccgaaa tggttatgtt ttataatcaa 2100
actaaaggcg gagtggacac gcttagaccaaa atgtgttcg ttagtacccgt cagtaggaag 2160
acgaatagggt ggcctatggc attattgtac ggaatgataaa acatcgctg cataaattct 2220
tttattatat acagccataaa tgcgtatgc aaggagaaaa aggttcaaag tcgcaaaaaa 2280
tttatgagaa acctttacat gaggctacg tcacgttta tgcgtacccgt ttttagaagct 2340
cctactttaa agagatattt ggcgcataat atctctaata ttttgcctt tgaagtgcct 2400
ggtacatcg atgacagtttca aagagacca gtaatgaaaaa aacgtacttta ctgtacttac 2460
tgccttcataaataaggcg aaaggcaat gcatcgtaa aaaaatgcaaa aaaagttatt 2520
tgcgtatgcgataataatgttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc 2580
tttgccttcataaataatgttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc 2640
tttaaagtttgc aaaaataatgttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc 2700
tttagaagaaa ttgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc 2760
ttgttgcatttattttatgttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc 2820
ttaataaataa aacctcgata tacagacccgaa aaaaacaca tgcgtcaatttacgc 2880
ttatctttaa cgtacgtcataatgttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc 2940
ccccgggtac cgagctcgaa ttgcgtatgc tggcatagc tggtttctgt gtgaaattgt 3000
tatccgtcataatgttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc 3060
gcctaatggc tgagctacttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc 3120
ggaaacccgtt cgtccagct gcatatgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc 3180
cgatgttgcg cgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc 3240
cgccgagccggtt aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc 3300
aacgcaggaa agaacatgttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc 3360
gcgttgcgg cgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc 3420
tcaagtgcataatgttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc 3480
agctccctcg tgcgtcttcgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc 3540
ctcccttcgg aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc 3600
taggtcgatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc 3660
gccttatccg gtaactatcg tcttgatgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc 3720
gcagcagccatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc 3780
ttgaaggatgttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc 3840
ctgaaggccatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc 3900
gctggtagcc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc 3960
caagaagatc ttttgatc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc 4020
taaggatgttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc 4080
aaatgaaggatgttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc 4140
tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc 4200
tgactccctcg tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc 4260
gcaatgtatcg tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc 4320
gccggaaaggccatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc 4380
aattttttgc gggaaaggccatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc 4440
gccatgtatcg tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc 4500
ggttcccaatgc gatcaaggccatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc 4560
tccttcggatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc 4620
atggcagccatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc 4680
gggtggatgttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc 4740
ccggccatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc 4800
ggaaaacccgtt ctcggccatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc tgcgtatgc 4860
atgttgcataatgttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc aatgttttttgc 4920

gggtagagaa aaacaggaag gcaaaatgcc gcaaaaagg gaataaggc gacacggaa 4980
 tatttatttc tcatacttt ctttttcaa tattttgaa gcatttatca gggttattgt 5040
 ctcatgagcg gatacatatt tgaatgtatt tagaaaaata aacaatagg ggccgcgc 5100
 acattcccc gaaaagtgcc acctgacgtc taagaaacca ttattatcat gacattaacc 5160
 tataaaaata ggcgtatcac gaggccctt cgtc 5194
 <200> SEQUENCE CHARACTERISTICS:
 <210> SEQ ID NO 17
 <211> LENGTH: 5194
 <212> TYPE: DNA
 <213> ORGANISM: Artificial Sequence
 <220> FEATURE:
 <223> OTHER INFORMATION: Description of Artificial Sequenceplasmid
 IFP2B/XsupF4H
 <400> SEQUENCE: 17

gacgaaaggg cctctgtata cgccatttt tataggtaa tgtcatgata ataatggtt 60
 ctttagacgt aggtggact ttccgggaa atgtgcgcgg aaccctatt tgtttatttt 120
 tctaaataca ttcaaatatg tatccgtca tgagacaata accctgataa atgcttcaat 180
 aatatggaaa aaggaagagt atgagtttc aacattccg tgcgcctt attcccttt 240
 ttgcggcatt ttgccttcgt gttttgcctt acccagaaac gctggtaaa gtaaaagatg 300
 ctgaagatca gttgggtgca cgagtgggtt acatcgaact ggactcaac agcgtaaga 360
 tcccttgagag ttccgcggcc gaagaacgtt ttccaatgt gagcactttt aaagttcgc 420
 tatgtggcgc ggttattatcc cgattttgac ccgggcaaga gcaactcggtt cgccgcatac 480
 actatttcga gaatgacttg ttgtgactt caccgtcac agaaaagcat ctacggatg 540
 gcatgacagt aagagaattt tgcatgtcg ccataaccat gagtgcataac actcgccca 600
 acttacttca gacaacgatc ggaggacccga aggagctaactc cgcttttttgc cacaatgg 660
 gggatcatgt aactcgccctt gategttggg aaccggagctt gaatgaaagcc ataccaaaacg 720
 acgagcgtga caccacgtt cttgtacaa tggcaacaac gttgcgcggaa ctattaaactg 780
 gcgaaactact tactctatgt tcccgcaac aattaataga ctggatggag gcgatggaaag 840
 ttgcaggacc acttctgegc tggcccttc cggctggctg gtttttgtt gataaatctg 900
 gageccgtga cgctgggtct cgccgtatca ttgcagcaactt gggcccatg ggttaagccct 960
 ccgtatgtt agttatctac aegacggggta gtcaggcaac tatggatgaa cggatggat 1020
 agatcgctga gatagggttgc tcaactgttca agcattgttca actgtcagac caagttact 1080
 catatataact tttagttgtt aaaaacttca atttttaattt taaaaggatc taggtgaaga 1140
 tccttttgcataatctca accaaaatcc cttaaacgttca gttttgttcactgatggct 1200
 cagacccctgtt agaaaagatc aaaggatctt cttggatcc ttccctcg cggtaatct 1260
 gctgttgcata accaaaaaaa ccaccgtac cagccgtgtt ttgttgcgg gatcaagatc 1320
 taccaactctt tttccggaa gtaactggctt tcagcggatc gcaatgtcc 1380
 ttcttagtgcataatctca accaaaatcc cttaaacgttca gttttgttcactgatggct 1440
 tcgctctgtt aatccgttca ccagggttgc tggccatgttca agtgcgttgc tggccatcc 1500
 ggttggactt aagacatag ttaccggata aggcgcagcg gtcgggttca acgggggtt 1560
 cgtgcacaca gcccgttgc ggcgttgc gatcaagatc ctacagcg 1620
 agcatggata aagcccaacg ctccggaa gggaaaggc gggacggatcc cggttgcgc 1680
 gcaagggttgcg aacaggagag cgcacggatcc agtgcgttgc gggaaacgcg tggatctt 1740
 atagtccgtt cgggtttgcg caccctgttca ttggatgttca tgctcgatgg 1800
 gggggccggag cctatggaaa aacgcggcaac acggccctt ttacgggttca ctggccctt 1860
 gctggccctt tgctcacatg ttccctcg cgttacccatc tgatgttca gataaccgtt 1920
 ttaccggccctt tgatgttgcgat gataccgttgc ggcgcggc aacgcggatcc cgccggatgt 1980
 cagtggatcc ggaagccggaa gggccggccaa tacggcaacc gcctctccccc ggcgttgcg 2040
 cgatttacatc atgcgttgcg caccgttgcgatg ttccggatcc gaaaggccggc agtgcgttgc 2100
 acgcaattaa ttttttttttgcataatctca accaaaatcc ctttttttttgcataatctca 2160
 cggctcgatg ttttttttttgcataatctca accaaaatcc ctttttttttgcataatctca 2220
 accatgatca ctttttttttgcataatctca accaaaatcc ctttttttttgcataatctca 2280
 aagatgttca gcttggatcc gggccggccaa tacggcaacc gcctctccccc ggcgttgcg 2340
 agcgcgttgcgat gataaccgttgc ggcgcggccaa tacggcaacc gcctctccccc ggcgttgcg 2400
 gggccgttgcgat gataaccgttgc ggcgcggccaa tacggcaacc gcctctccccc ggcgttgcg 2460
 ctttttttttgcataatctca accaaaatcc ctttttttttgcataatctca 2520

tattgttatt tcatgttcta cttacgtgat aacttattat atatatattt tcttgttata 2580
gatatcgta ctaatatata ataaaatggg atgttctta gacgatgacg atatccctc 2640
tgctcttcg caaggcgatg acgagcttg tggtgaggat tctgacagtg aaatatcaga 2700
tcacgtaaatg gaagacgtcc agaggatc agaagaagcg tttagatg aggtacatga 2760
agtgtcagc aacgtcaagc gttagtcaaattttagacgaa caaaatgttta ttgaacaacc 2820
aggtcttca ttggcttca acagaatctt gaccctgcca cagaggacta tttagggtaa 2880
gaataaataatgttggtaa ctcaaaatgc caccgggtt agccgaggct ctgcactgaa 2940
cattgtcaga tctcaaaatgttggccgatgttggccgatgtatatatg acccacttt 3000
atgttcaaaatgttggccgatgttggccgatgttggccgatgtatatatg acccacttt 3060
tgagatata ttgaaacgtc ggaaatctt gacagggtctt acatccgtt acacgaaatgt 3120
agatgaaatc tatgttctt ttggatattt ggtatgaca gcagtggaa aagataacca 3180
catgtccaca gatgacatctt ttggatgtt ctgttgcattt ggtatgctt ctgtatgag 3240
tctgtggatc ttgttggatt ttgttgcattt ggtatgctt ctgttgcattt ggtatgctt 3300
gcccacactt cgagaaaaacgt atgttgcattt tctgttgcattt ggtatgctt 3360
ccatcgtgc atacaatgtt acactccagg ggctcattt accatagatg aacagttact 3420
ttggatgtt ggtttaggtt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt 3480
aataaaaaatc tcatgtatgtt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt 3540
tttggaaaga ggaacacaga ccaacgggtt accactcggtt ggtatgctt 3600
atcaaaatgtt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt 3660
cccttgcataaaatgtt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt 3720
atcaaaatgtt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt 3780
atcgatgtt tggttgcattt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt 3840
gatgttgcattt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt 3900
accgcaatgtt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt 3960
gtgttgcattt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt 4020
aatgataaaatgtt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt 4080
gggagaaaaatgtt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt 4140
atcgatgtt tggttgcattt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt 4200
ctctaatattt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt 4260
aatgaaaaatgtt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt 4320
atcgatgtt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt 4380
ttgttgcattt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt 4440
acttattttt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt 4500
agagagaatgtt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt 4560
aataaaataaaatgtt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt 4620
atataaaataaaatgtt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt 4680
aaaacacatgtt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt 4740
tttcttaggtt taatcttaggtt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt 4800
ctggccgtcg ttgttgcattt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt 4860
cttgcagcac atccccctt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt 4920
ccttcccaac agttgcgcagc ttttgcattt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt 4980
acgcatctgtt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt 5040
gccgcataatgtt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt 5100
tgtctgcctt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt ggtatgctt 5160
cagagggtttt caccgttcatc accgaaacgc ggtttt 5194

<200> SEQUENCE CHARACTERISTICS:

<210> SEQ ID NO 18

<211> LENGTH: 32

<212> TYPE: DNA

<213> ORGANISM: Artificial Sequence

<220> FEATURE:

<223> OTHER INFORMATION: Description of Artificial Sequencehsp/opd
new-for

<400> SEQUENCE: 18

gaagatctat ttctctggcc gttatcgat

32

<200> SEQUENCE CHARACTERISTICS:

<210> SEQ ID NO 19
<211> LENGTH: 32
<212> TYPE: DNA
<213> ORGANISM: Artificial Sequence
<220> FEATURE:
<223> OTHER INFORMATION: Description of Artificial Sequence hsp/opd
nwe-rev
<400> SEQUENCE: 19 32
gaagatctga tccggaaac atatagattt
<200> SEQUENCE CHARACTERISTICS:
<210> SEQ ID NO 20
<211> LENGTH: 7560
<212> TYPE: DNA
<213> ORGANISM: Artificial Sequence
<220> FEATURE:
<223> OTHER INFORMATION: Description of Artificial Sequence cep3E1.2hs/opd
<400> SEQUENCE: 20
ttaacccttag aaagatagtc tgcgaaaaat tgacgcattgc attcttggaaa tattgtctc 60
tttttctaaa tagcgcaat ccgtcgctgt ttgcaatttta ggacatctca gtcggcgctt 120
ggagctcgcc tgaggcggtc ttgtcaatgc ggttaagtgtc actgtatgg aactataacg 180
accgctgtgg ctaaaaatgac gcatgattat ctttacgtg acattttaaaga tttaaactcat 240
acgataatta atattttat ttcatgttctt acttacgtga taacttattata tataatattt 300
ttcttgttat agatatcgta actaatatata aataaaaatgg gatgttctt agacgttag 360
catatccctct ctgctcttctt gcaaggcgat gacgagcttg ttggtgaggaa ttctgacagt 420
gaaatatcg atcacgttaag tgaagacgtc cagagcgata cagaagaagc gtttatagat 480
gaggatcatg aagtgtcagc caacgtcaag cgttagtggaa tatttagacga aaaaaatgtt 540
attgaacaac cagggttcttctt atggcttctt aacagaatct tgaccttgcc acagaggact 600
atttagaggtt agaataaaaca ttgttgttca acttcaaagt ccacgaggg tagccgagtc 660
tctgcactga acatgtcag atctcgctt ctctggccgt tattcggtt 720
tctcttttcttgggtt ctctccctctt ctgcactaat getctctcact tctgtctcac 780
agtaaacggc atactgctctt cggtgggtcg agagagcgcg cctcgaaatgt tcggaaaag 840
agcgccggag tataaataga ggcgttctgt ctacggagcg acaattcaat tcaaacaagc 900
aaagtgaaca cgtcgcttaag cgaaagctaa gcaaataaaac aagcgccatg gaacaagcta 960
aacaatctgc agtaaaatgtc aagttaaagt gaatcaatta aaagtaacca gcaaccaagt 1020
aaatcaactg caactactga aatctgcctttaaa gaagtaatttta ttaaataacaa gaagagaact 1080
ctgaataggg aattggggat taggtaccga attacacaga atgaattccg gcgatcggt 1140
caataccctg cgcggcttca acataatctc tgaagcggtt ttcaactgtt ctcacgagca 1200
catctggcc acgtcgccag gattcttgcg tgcttggcca gagttctcg gtacccgca 1260
agctctagcg gaaaaggctg tgagaggatt gcccggccg aggccgtcg gctgtcgaaac 1320
gattgtcgat gtgtcgactt tcgatatcg tgcgtcgatg agttttgg ccgaggttc 1380
gccccgtgcc gacgttccata tcgtggcgcc gaceggcttg tggttcgacc cgcactttc 1440
gatgcgttgcg aggatgttag aggaactcac acagtcttc ctgcgtgaga ttcaatatgg 1500
catcgaaagac accggaaatta gggcgccat tatcaaggctt gcgaccacag gcaaggcgac 1560
cccccttcag gagttatgt taaaggccgc cggccggcc agcttggcca cccgttcc 1620
ggtaaccact cacacggcag caagtccatcg cgatggtagt cggccggcc ccattttga 1680
gtccgaagcc ttgaggccctt cacgggtttg tattggtcac agccatgtata ctgcgttcc 1740
gagctatctc accgcctcg ctgcgtccgg atacccatc ggtcttagacc acatcccgca 1800
cagtgcgtt ggtcttagaaat ataatgcgtt tgcatcgttcc cccgttccgtt 1860
gcaaaacacgg gctcttgc tcaaggccat catcgaccaaa ggctacatgtt aacaatctt 1920
cgtttgcgtt gactggctgt tcgggttttcc gagctatgtc accaacatca tggacgtgt 1980
ggatgcgtt gaccccgacg ggatggccctt cattccactg agagtgtatcc catttctacg 2040
agagaaggcc gtcggccacagg aaacgtggc aggcacactt gtgactaacc cggccgggtt 2100
cttgcacccg accttgcggg cgtcatgtcc ccatctggat ctggataatgtt ttatgttac 2160
acatttactt taaattttactt ttagccgttcc gataattttaat tttatattta 2220
atttaaacca cctgcacgtt ttaataatctatgttcc cccggatcca cacgcgagat 2280

gctgaagatc agttgggtgc acgagtgggt tacatgaac tggatctaa cagcggtaa 5520
atccctgaga gtttgcgcc cgaagaacgt ttccaatg tgagactttaa aagtctg 5580
ctatgtggcg cggtattatac ccgtatttgac gcccggcaag agcaactcg tcgcccata 5640
cactatttc aagaatgactt ggtttagtac tcaccagtca cagaaaagca tcitacggat 5700
ggcatgacag taagagaatt atgcagtgt gccataacca tgagtataa cactcgcc 5760
aacttacttc tgacaacatc cggaggaccc aaggagctaa ccgcctttt gcacaacatg 5820
ggggatcatg taactcgct tgatcggtgg gaacccggc tgaatgaagc cataccaaac 5880
gacgagcgtg acaccacgt gectgttagca atggcaacaa cgttgcgeaa actattaact 5940
ggcgaactac ttactctac ttcccgccaa caattaatag actggatgaa ggccggataaa 6000
gttgcaggac cactctcgcc tcggccctt ccggctggct ggtttatgc tgataaatct 6060
ggagccgtg agcgtgggtc tcgggtatc attgcagcac tggggccaga tggtaagccc 6120
tcccgatctg tagttatcta cacgacgggg agtcaggcaat catggatga acgaaataga 6180
cagatcgctg agatagggtc ctcactgatt aagcatggta aactgtcaga ccaagttac 6240
tcatatatatac ttttagattta ttaaaactt catttttaat ttaaaaggat cttaggtaaag 6300
atcccttttataatctcat gaccaaatac ccttaacgtg agtttcgtt ccactgagcg 6360
tcagaccccg tagaaaaagat caaaggatct tcttgcgatc cttttttctt gcgcgtatc 6420
tgctgttc aaacaaaaaa accaccgtca ccagcggtgg ttgtttgcc ggatcaagag 6480
ctaccaactc ttttccgaa ggttaactggc ttccgcagag cgcagatacc aaatactgtc 6540
cttctatgtt agccgtatgtt aggcaccac ttcagaact ctgttagcacc gcctacatac 6600
ctcgctctgc taatctgtt accagtggct gctgcgcgtg gcgatagtc gtgttttacc 6660
gggttggact caagacgata gttaccggat aaggcgcgc ggtcgccgtg aacgggggg 6720
tcgtgcacac agcccaactt ggagcgaacg acctacaccg aacttgagata cctacagcgt 6780
gagcatgtg aaagcgcac gcttccgaa gggagaaaagg cggcagggta tccggtaagc 6840
ggcagggtcg gaacaggaga ggcacgcgagg gagettccag gggaaacgc ctgttatctt 6900
tatagtctgtc tgggttttcg ccacctctga cttaggcgtc gatttttgtt atgctgtca 6960
ggggggcggaa gcctatgaa aaacgcgcgc aacgcgcgc tttacgggtt cctggcctt 7020
tgctggccctt ttgcacat gtttttccctt gctgttccctt ctgattctgt ggataacgt 7080
attaccgcctt ttgagtgagc tgataccgcg cggccgcgc gaaacgaccga ggcgcgcgc 7140
tcagtgcgcg aggaaagcggaa agagcgcaca atacgcaaac cgcctctccc cgcgcgtgg 7200
ccgattcatt aatgcgcgtc gcacgcacagg ttcccgact ggaagcgggg ctaggcgcgc 7260
aacgcacattaa atgtgagttt gtcactcat taggcaccccc aggttttaca ctttatgtt 7320
ccggcgtgtca ttgtgtgg aatttgtagc ggataacaat ttcacacagg aaacagctat 7380
gaccatgattt acgaatttca gtcgggtacc cggggatctt cttaggtcga cgctcgccgc 7440
acttggtttt ccatttttca ggcgcgcgtc cgtcacacag ctggccaca atgtggttt 7500
tgtcaaaacgaa agattctatg acgtgtttaa agtttagtgc ggttgcgaaacgcaaaatcttt 7560

<200> SEQUENCE CHARACTERISTICS:

<210> SEQ ID NO 21

<211> LENGTH: 38

<212> TYPE: DNA

<213> ORGANISM: Artificial Sequence

<220> FEATURE:

<223> OTHER INFORMATION: Description of Artificial

SequenceBamHI/XbaI-TTAA-XbaI/BamHI nucleotide
sequence

<400> SEQUENCE: 21

ccttaggat ctaattggc ccaattggat ctccgtt 38

<200> SEQUENCE CHARACTERISTICS:

<210> SEQ ID NO 22

<211> LENGTH: 38

<212> TYPE: DNA

<213> ORGANISM: Artificial Sequence

<220> FEATURE:

<223> OTHER INFORMATION: Description of Artificial

SequenceBamHI/XbaI-TTAA-XbaI/BamHI nucleotide
sequence

<400> SEQUENCE: 22

ggatccctcta gattaacccg ggtaactca gaggatcc

38